# **F-CENTRAL FARMMANAGER**

MANUAL

VERSION A1



N.B.: The original, authentic version of this manual is the Dutch version produced by Fancom B.V. or one of its daughter companies (referred to further as Fancom). Any modifications introduced to this manual by third parties have neither been checked nor approved by Fancom. Modifications are taken by Fancom to include translations into languages other than Dutch and the insertion and/or deletion of text and/or illustrations to/from the original contents. Fancom cannot be held liable for any damages, injury, guarantee claims and other claims relating to this type of modification, in as far as these modifications result in a content that differs from the original Dutch version of this manual produced by Fancom. For the latest information about product installation and operation, please contact the customer service dept. and/or the technical service dept. of the Fancom company concerned. In spite of the care taken when compiling this manual, if you should discover any errors, please inform Fancom B.V. in writing. Fancom B.V., PO Box 7131, 5980 AC Panningen (the Netherlands).

Copyright © 2013 Fancom B.V.

Panningen (the Netherlands)

All rights reserved. Nothing from this manual may be copied, distributed or translated into other languages, partly or wholly, without express prior written permission from Fancom. Fancom reserves the right to modify this manual without notice. Fancom can give no guarantee, neither implicit nor explicit, for this manual. All risks are for the user.

This manual has been compiled with the utmost care. If, however, you should discover an error, please inform Fancom B.V.

Art.Nr. A5911488 GB130401

# Table of contents

| 1.  | Gener                              | al introductiom  | 3  |  |
|-----|------------------------------------|--|----|--|
|     | 1.1                                | Documentation with the program                                   |    |  |
|     | 1.2                                | How to use this manual   |    |  |
|     | 1.3                                | Fancom helpdesk  |    |  |
|     | 1.4                                | F-Central FarmManager™   | 3  |  |
| 2.  | F-Cen                              | tral FarmManager introduction                                    | 4  |  |
| 3.  | Working with F-Central FarmManager |  |    |  |
|     | 3.1                                | Screen layout  | 5  |  |
|     | 3.2                                | Basic functions  | 6  |  |
| 4.  | Config                             | guring basic settings  | 8  |  |
|     | 4.1                                | Create a device structure  |    |  |
|     | 4.2                                | Making a farm structure  |    |  |
|     | 4.3                                | Linking cameras  |    |  |
|     | 4.4                                | Plan backup tasks  | 17 |  |
|     | 4.5                                | Creating sample data   |    |  |
|     | 4.6                                | Create a simple graph  | 21 |  |
| 5.  | Opera                              | ting controllers   |    |  |
|     | 5.1                                | Opening the operating screen of a controller                     |    |  |
|     | 5.2                                | Entering values via the operating screen                         |    |  |
|     | 5.3                                | Browsing through the operating screen                            | 24 |  |
|     | 5.4                                | Using shortcut keys  |    |  |
| 6.  | Viewir                             | ng current overviews   |    |  |
|     | 6.1                                | View current farm section overviews                              |    |  |
| 7.  | Creati                             | ng and managing sample tasks                                     |    |  |
|     | 7.1                                | Creating an advanced sample task                                 |    |  |
|     | 7.2                                | Viewing sample tasks   |    |  |
|     | 7.3                                | Changing sample tasks  | 39 |  |
|     | 7.4                                | Start a sample task manually                                     | 40 |  |
|     | 7.5                                | Supporting tasks   | 41 |  |
| 8.  | Creati                             | ng and managing graphs   | 42 |  |
|     | 8.1                                | Creating advanced graphs   |    |  |
|     | 8.2                                | Legend layout  | 46 |  |
|     | 8.3                                | Viewing a graph  | 46 |  |
|     | 8.4                                | Operating a graph  | 49 |  |
|     | 8.5                                | Combining and comparing graphs                                   | 52 |  |
|     | 8.6                                | Save graphs as image or table                                    | 53 |  |
|     | 8.7                                | Exporting and importing sample definitions and graph definitions | 54 |  |
|     | 8.8                                | Removing graphs  |    |  |
| 9.  | Creati                             | ng and managing personal data                                    |    |  |
|     | 9.1                                | Create personal data   |    |  |
|     | 9.2                                | Sorting personal data  |    |  |
|     | 9.3                                | View personal data   |    |  |
|     | 9.4                                | Changing Plus keys   |    |  |
|     | 9.5                                | Changing Plus data   |    |  |
| 10  | 9.6                                | Removing Plus keys and Plus data                                 |    |  |
| 10. | Creati                             | ng and managing e-mail notifications                             |    |  |
|     | 10.1                               | Add contacts/reginigate  |    |  |
|     | 10.2                               | Auu contacts/recipients  |    |  |
|     | 10.3                               | Setting notifications  |    |  |
|     | 10.4                               |  |    |  |

| 11. | Creati | ing and managing archives                    | 69 |
|-----|--------|--|----|
|     | 11.1   | Creating an archive                          |    |
|     | 11.2   | Opening and using archives                   |    |
|     | 11.3   | Import an archive                            | 71 |
|     | 11.4   | Closing archives                             |    |
|     | 11.5   | Removing archives                            | 72 |
| 12. | Creati | ing and managing backups                     | 73 |
|     | 12.1   | Creating an advanced backup task             |    |
|     | 12.2   | Viewing backup tasks                         |    |
|     | 12.3   | View the history of the selected backup task |    |
|     | 12.4   | Changing backup tasks                        |    |
|     | 12.5   | Starting a manual backup task                |    |
|     | 12.6   | Restore backups                              |    |
|     | 12.7   | Supporting tasks                             |    |
| 13. | Viewir | ng alarms                                    |    |
|     | 13.1   | Viewing current alarms                       |    |
|     | 13.2   | Viewing the alarm log                        |    |
| 14. | Extra  | options                                      |    |
|     | 14.1   | Making a Service Information File            |    |
|     | 14.2   | Copy pages and indices                       |    |
|     | 14.3   | Data sharing                                 |    |
| 15. | Suppo  | orting programs                              |    |
|     | 15.1   | Service Monitor                              |    |
|     | 15.2   | Analysis Tool                                |    |
|     | 15.3   | Archive Converter Tool                       |    |
|     | 15.4   | Archive Recovery Tool                        |    |
|     | 15.5   | Communication Tool                           |    |
|     | 15.6   | Text File Manager                            |    |
| 16. | Index  |  |    |
|     |        |  |    |

# 1. General introductiom

This manual has been compiled with the utmost care. If, however, you should discover an error, please inform Fancom B.V..

### 1.1 Documentation with the program

The documentation consists of the following:

Getting Started

The Getting Started manual provides information about the installation and activation of the program.

Help

The manual is intended for the installer and end-user. The manual provides information about configuring and working with F-Central FarmManager.

### 1.2 How to use this manual

Fancom uses the following symbols in this manual:



Suggestions, advice and remarks with additional information.



Warning indicating damage to the product if procedures are not carefully observed.



Warning indicating a hazard for humans or animals.



Example of an actual application of the described functionality.



Example of a calculation.



Describes the combination of keys required to access a certain screen.

#### Decimals

The controller and this manual use a decimal point in values. For example: a weight is shown as 1.5 kg (not as 1,5 kg).

## 1.3 Fancom helpdesk

For any questions and support, please contact your local Fancom Sales & Service Centre.

### 1.4 F-Central FarmManager™

Virtually all Fancom equipment can be controlled and managed from a central location. This requires the F Central FarmManager software package and a communication module. The screens in the controllers are also used in F Central FarmManager. This means you can start working immediately.

# 2. F-Central FarmManager introduction

With F-Central FarmManager, you are connected with your stalls 24 hours a day. You can monitor and adjust the situation in your stalls from anywhere in the world. This allows you to save time and to manage your stalls more efficiently. F-Central FarmManager provides the following functions, among others:

Central operation of all controllers

All activities that you perform on a controller can also be performed via F-Central FarmManager.

View overviews

You can view overviews of all farm sections at various levels, such as house, curve and clocks. You can create an overview in table form, graphic display, a curve or a Farm-specific overview.

Constructing graphs

You can construct graphs based on information from a controller (sample data). When constructing graphs, you can combine the information from multiple control units into one graph.

Archiving F-Central FarmManager settings

You can create an archive of certain farm situations in F-Central FarmManager. The archive contains all settings of graphs, for example, and all connected controllers. With an archive, you can view your farm situation at a given moment in the past. You can also compare your farm situation with the archive.

Reacting to an alarm

Alarms that occur on a controller are displayed in F-Central FarmManager. You can adjust the alarm status if desired.

E-mail notifications

You can send notifications about backup tasks, sample tasks and alarms to one or more e-mail addresses.

Making backups of controllers

You can create a backup of information from a controller. This way you can reconstruct old situations - for example, because new settings do not work.

Adding personal data (Plus keys)

You can add your own information to the program. This data is only saved in F-Central FarmManager and not in the control units. With Plus keys, you can perform cost calculations, for example.

# 3. Working with F-Central FarmManager

In this chapter, you can read about the basic functions of F-Central FarmManager.

The presumption of this chapter is that F-Central FarmManager has been correctly installed. You can read more information about the installation of F-Central FarmManager in 'Getting Started'.

### 3.1 Screen layout

After logging in, the F-Central FarmManager screen appears. The screen has a standard layout that is the same as in all other components of the program. The most important parts of the screen are explained below.



1. Menu bar

The menu bar contains generic buttons that are the same in all parts of the program. Among other things, you can change the display, print pages and configure a number of basic settings.

2. Button bar

In the button bar, you will find buttons that apply specifically to the selected shortcut menu.

3. Shortcut menu

The shortcut menu is comprised of four layers. Under the *Control units* and *Alarms* layers, you can perform actions such as operating the controllers and displaying graphs. Under the *Tasks* and *System* layers, you can configure things such as adding control units.

4. Farm and device structure

An overview of the farm locations (stalls) and devices that are connected to F-Central FarmManager.

5. Work area

In the work area, data is displayed with which you can perform activities. The layout of a work area differs according to function.

6. Alarms

When alarms occur, these are displayed here. If you double-click on the alarm, you go directly to the corresponding controller so that you can turn off the alarm if you wish.

### 3.2 Basic functions

F-Central FarmManager has several basic functions that help you to use the program better.

### 3.2.1 Adjusting column width

The program is subdivided into various columns. To have the information displayed fit well on your screen, you can adjust the column width. You adjust the column width as follows:

- 1. Place your cursor on the dividing line between two columns.
- 2. Hold the left mouse button pressed down and drag the line. Then release the left mouse button.



### 3.2.2 Logging in and logging out

During the use of F-Central FarmManager, you can switch between users. For this, it is not necessary to close down the program, but you can log out and log in again with another user name.



For daily work activities, you are logged in as *FarmManager*. If you want to change system settings, you must be logged in as *Service Engineer*. If you just want to view the program, then you log in as *FarmViewer*. Then, you cannot change any information.

- 1. Click the Log of *C*
- 2. Choose the desired User name and enter the Password (read more about logging in 'Getting Started').
- 3. Click OK. You are now logged in with the other user name.

#### 3.2.3 Changing the password



Be careful with your passwords.

You can change your password via the login window. You change a password as follows:

- 1. Start F-Central FarmManager.
- 2. Select the user name for which you wish to change the password and click on the *Options* button. The following screen appears:

| 🐕 Log on                         | - • ×            |
|----------------------------------|------------------|
| Welcome to F-Central FarmManager |                  |
| User name                        | Service Engineer |
| Password                         |                  |
|                                  | Change           |
| Language                         | English          |
| Edit mode                        | Fast 💌           |
| ΟΚ                               | Close << Options |

- 3. Click on *Change* and enter the old password, followed by the new password.
- 4. Click on OK to save the new password.

### 3.2.4 F-Central FarmManager close

Never turn off the computer on which F-Central FarmManager is installed! The automatic tasks will then no longer be performed.

You can always close F-Central FarmManager. Even if tasks are still being performed, e.g. an automatic backup.

These tasks remain active in the background. You close the program by clicking the Log off Web button.

### 3.2.5 Print

You can print a screen by clicking the *Print* we button. This always prints the working area of the active screen.

### 3.2.6 Show the entire screen

You can display the screen in its full dimensions with the *Full screen* button. If the full screen is active, you can go back to the regular display with the *Close full screen* button.

#### 3.2.7 View current program status

The following current statuses are displayed at the lower right of the work area:

- Red: F-Central FarmManager is busy retrieving data.
- Green: F-Central FarmManager has retrieved all the data.
- Blue: F-Central FarmManager has demo or archive data.

# 4. Configuring basic settings

Before you can make use of F-Central FarmManager, a few basic settings must be configured. The tasks that you must perform for this are:

- Make a device structure
- Making a farm structure
- Plan backup tasks
- Create sample tasks
- Create graphs
- Add cameras



For all the tasks described in this chapter, you must be logged in as Service Engineer.

### 4.1 Create a device structure

The link between the controller and the program is called a route. Before you can add a route in the program, the controller must be connected to a communication device (e.g. GreenLinkBox or WebLinkBox). For this, consult the manual for the particular communication device.

You first make the routes in the program and then you link all the controllers that are connected to this.

### 4.1.1 Adding routes

New routes can be added automatically or manually:

- Automatic: the program checks whether new routes are present. All new routes are added automatically and the settings are automatically determined (applies only for USB and COM ports such as SLT721).
- Manual: you check yourself whether new routes are present. You add the new routes manually and also
  determine all the settings manually (applies only for ethernet connection such as GreenLinkBox ELT and
  WebLinkBox).

#### Adding routes automatically

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the *View device structure* <sup>2</sup>. The 'Device structure' display appears.
- 3. Select 'My Devices'.
- 4. Click on the *Install communication route*. The program now adds all available routes. At the end, all routes are shown in the 'Device summary' display.

#### Adding routes manually

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the *View device structure* <sup>21</sup>. The 'Device structure' display appears:
- 3. Select 'My Devices'.
- 4. Click on the New communication route
- 5. Choose GreenLinkBox ELT/Weblinkbox or Greenlinkbox SLT and click *OK*. The program now adds all available routes. At the end, all routes are shown in the 'Device summary' display.
- 6. Set the properties for the route (see the end of this paragraph) and click on the *Apply* button to save the properties.



#### Adding simulated routes

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the View device structure 2. The 'Device structure' display appears:
- 3. Select 'My Devices'.
- 4. Click on the *New simulated communication route* <sup>1</sup>. The new route gets created and shown in the 'Device structure' display.
- 5. Set the properties for the route (see the end of this paragraph) and click on the *Apply* button to save the properties.

#### **Changing routes' properties**

- 1. Select a newly added route. The route's properties appear in the work area.
- 2. Adjust the route properties:

| Device structure |             | Entity properties   |  |
|------------------|-------------|---|--|
| ^                | Property    | Value   |  |
|                  | Туре        | Communication Route   |  |
|                  | Name        | WebLinkBox  |  |
|                  | Device      | GreenLinkBox ELT / WebLinkBox   |  |
|                  | Port number | 10000   |  |
|                  | IP address  | 10.1.80.9   |  |
|                  | Status      | Simulation  |  |
|                  | Reason      | -   |  |
|                  | Comments    |   |  |
|                  | •           | Entity properties Property Type Name Device Port number IP address Status Reason Comments |  |

- Type: device type.
- Name: name of the device.
- Device: description of the device.
- Port number: the port on the program to which the device is connected (only applies for manual routes).
- IP address: the IP address for the device (only applies for manual routes).
- Status: the current status of the device (only applies for manual routes).
- Comment: any remarks that you may enter for yourself.
- 3. Click on *Apply* to save the changed properties.

### 4.1.2 Adding controllers

New controllers can be added automatically or manually:

- Automatic: the program checks whether new controllers are present. All new controllers are added automatically and the settings are automatically determined.
- Manual: you check yourself whether new controllers are present. You add the new controllers manually and also determine all the settings manually.

#### Adding controllers automatically

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the View device structure <sup>21</sup>. The 'Device structure' display appears:
- 3. Select the route to which you want to add a controller.
- 4. Click on the *Install controller* <sup>MAN</sup>. The program now adds all available controllers. At the end, all controllers are shown in the 'Device summary' display.



When adding the controllers F47, F79 and 778, you must link the text file yourself. After adding the controller, click on the *Link menu structure file* button *select* the proper text file and click on *Open*.

#### Adding controllers manually

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the View device structure 2. The 'Device structure' display appears:
- 3. Click on the *New controller*
- 4. Set the properties for the controller (see the end of this paragraph) and click on the *Apply* button to save the properties.

#### **Changing controllers' properties**

- 1. Select a newly added controller. The controller properties appear in the work area.
- 2. Adjust the properties for the controller:

| Entity properties       |                               |  |  |
|-------------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|
| Property                | Value                         |  |  |
| Туре                    | Controller                    |  |  |
| Name                    |                               |  |  |
| Controller Type         | Please select Controller type |  |  |
| Number                  | 0                             |  |  |
| Version                 |                               |  |  |
| Language                |                               |  |  |
| Number of Control Units | 0                             |  |  |
| Menu Structure File     |                               |  |  |
| Network                 | -                             |  |  |
| Status                  | Simulation                    |  |  |
| Reason                  | Identity unknown              |  |  |
| Comments                |                               |  |  |

- *Number*: the controller number.
- Network: exporting the communication protocol from the network (Fnet / Loop).
- Comment: any remarks that you may enter for yourself.
- 3. Click on Apply to save the changed properties.

### 4.1.3 Supporting tasks

#### Deactivating controllers or control units

If you add a climate computer with eight control units (departments), all eight control units become active. If you use only six control units in practice, you can deactivate two. These are then no longer displayed in the 'Device summary' and no communication takes place between the deactivated control units and the program.

You deactivate a controller or control unit as follows:

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the *View device structure* . The 'Device structure' display appears:
- 3. Select the desired controller or control unit.
- 4. Click on the *Activate/Deactivate entity* to turn off the controller or control unit.

#### Activating controllers or control units

If you wish to put the two deactivated control units back into service, you must activate them again. Then, the relevant control units will again be displayed in the 'Farm summary' display and the communication between the activated controllers or control units and the program will be initiated again.

You activate a controller or control unit as follows:

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the View device structure 2. The 'Device structure' display appears:
- 3. Select the desired controller or control unit.
- 4. Click on the Activate/Deactivate entity button to turn on the controller or control unit.

#### **Delete routes and controllers**



If you remove a route or controller, the graphs and samples from that route or controller also get removed.

If you no longer wish to make use of a certain route or controller, you can remove these. You remove a route or controller as follows:

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the View device structure 2. The 'Device structure' display appears:
- 3. Select the desired controller.
- 4. Click the Delete .

### 4.2 Making a farm structure

After you have added your controllers to the program, these are shown in the 'farm summary' display. Each controller has its own name. You can change these names into names that are used at your farm. You can also add the set-up of your farm. For example, you can assign control units for each stall. To create a farm structure, you can perform the following tasks:

- Adding farm sections
- Sorting farm sections
- Adding a start screen for farm sections



#### 4.2.1 Adding farm sections



The first time you add a farm section, you choose the name of the farm that should be displayed at the highest level. Then you can add other farm sections at every level desired.

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the View farm structure 2. The 'Farm structure' display appears.
- 3. Select the location to which you wish to add a farm section.
- 4. Click on the *New farm section* The new farm section is added to the summary and automatically selected. The properties for the selected farm section appear in the work area:

| Farm Structure  | Entity properties |              |
|---|-------------------|--------------|
| ⊡ 😭 MyFarm  | Property          | Value        |
| New Section           F92Y1 7.1           □         Chicken Wall           Image: Signal state stat | Туре              | Farm Section |
|   | Name              | New Section  |
|   | Image             |              |
|   | Image size mode   | Tile         |
|   | Comments          |              |

- Name: the name of the farm section that is used in the 'Farm structure'.
- Comment: any remarks that you may enter for yourself.
- 5. Click on *Apply* to save the changed properties.

#### 4.2.2 Sorting farm sections

After adding farm sections, you can sort them. You can do this to make a logical layout, for example.





The controllers and control units are displayed in the sequence in which you have moved these. So start with the controller or control unit that should be last within a farm section.

You drag a controller or control unit as follows.

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the View farm structure 2. The 'Farm structure' display appears.
- 3. Select the controller or control unit you wish to drag period.
- 4. Hold the left mouse button down and drag the controller or control unit to the desired farm section.
- 5. Release the left mouse button.

#### 4.2.3 Adding a start screen for farm sections



If cameras are installed in the form component, the camera image is always displayed. Then it is not possible to display an image.

You can add an image to the start screen of a farm section, for example, your logo. You add an image to the start screen as follows:

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the Farm structure 2. The 'Farm structure' display appears.
- 3. Select the desired farm section. The properties for the selected farm section appear in the work area:
- 4. Adjust the farm section's properties:

| Entity properties |              |  |
|-------------------|--------------|--|
| Property          | Value        |  |
| Туре              | Farm Section |  |
| Name              | Chicken Wall |  |
| Image             | front.jpg    |  |
| Image size mode   | Tile         |  |
| Comments          |              |  |

- Name: the name of the farm section that will be used on the start screen and in the 'Farm structure' display.
- Image: the image of the farm section that will be used on the start screen and in the 'Farm structure' display.
- Image method: the way in which the image will be displayed:
   Tile: the image is repeated in order to fill the entire space.
   Stretch: the dimensions of the image are changed so that they fit precisely into the space.
   Center: the image is displayed centrally (at actual size) in the screen.
- Comment: any remarks that you may enter for yourself.
- 5. Click on *Apply* to save the changed properties.

### 4.2.4 Supporting tasks

#### **Removing farm sections**



If you remove a farm section, the underlying controller and control unit do **not** get removed. These are placed under the 'My Farm' level.

In the 'Farm structure' display, you can remove farm sections but not controllers and control units. Controllers and control units can be removed in the 'Device structure' display (for more information, see Supporting tasks).

If you no longer wish to make use of a certain farm section, then you can remove it. You remove a farm section as follows:

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the Farm structure 2. The 'Farm structure' display appears.
- 3. Select the desired farm section.



# 4.3 Linking cameras

If there are cameras installed in part of the farm, you can add these in F-Central FarmManager. You add a camera as follows:

- 1. Go to System and select Configuration.
- 2. Click on the View farm structure 2. The 'Farm structure' display appears.
- 3. Select 'MyFarm'.
- 4. Click on the New camera <sup>Mare</sup>. The new camera is then created and displayed in the 'Farm structure' display.

Set the camera properties (see further in this paragraph) and click on Apply to save the properties.

#### Changing a camera's properties

- 1. Select a newly added camera. The camera properties appear in the work area.
- 2. Adjust the camera properties:

| Farm Structure | Entity properties          |                                  |
|----------------|----------------------------|----------------------------------|
| 🖃 🏠 MyFarm     | Property                   | Value                            |
|                | Туре                       | Camera                           |
|                | Name                       | New Camera 1                     |
|                | Location in Farm Structure | MyFarm\Chicken Wall\New Camera 1 |
|                | Comments                   |                                  |
|                | IP address                 | 0.0.0.0                          |
|                | Port                       | 18731                            |
|                | Status                     | Hardware failure                 |
|                | Reason                     | Device interface not responding  |
|                |                            |                                  |

- *Type*: device type.
- Name: The name of the camera used in the 'Device structure' display.
- Location in farm structure: of the location of the camera in the 'Farm structure' display.
- URL: the URL for picking up the MJPEG stream.
- Comment: any remarks that you may enter for yourself.
- IP-address: the IP address for the camera (only applies for eYeNamic).
- Port: the port on the program to which the camera is connected (only applicable for eYeNamic).
- Status: the current status of the device (only applicable for eYeNamic).
- Reason: the explanation for the current status if this is not correct (only applicable for eYeNamic).
- 3. Click on *Apply* to save the changed properties.

| Q | Fancom makes use of | Fancom makes use of cameras from Mobotix and Axis by default. The URLs for these cameras are: |  |  |  |
|---|---------------------|---|--|--|--|
|   | Mobotix camera:     | http:// <ip address="">/control/faststream.jpg?stream=full</ip>                               |  |  |  |
|   | Axis camera:        | http:// <ip address="">/axis-cgi/mjpg/video.cgi</ip>  |  |  |  |

## 4.4 Plan backup tasks

Via F-Central FarmManager you can make a backup of the information in the controllers. With a backup, you can replace a copy of the old information from a controller on a controller. By setting up backup tasks, backups are created at regular intervals. You determine yourself the controllers and control units from which backups are made and how often this happens.

| Q | You decide to change the information on your controller. After a few seconds, you discover that the changed information is not completely correct. Now you can replace the backup with the old information, so that you can work further from the old situation (for more information, see Replacing a backup "Restore backups" page 80). |
|---|---|
|   | Fancom recommends always setting up backup tasks. This way, you are certain that backups will be made, even if you don't take the initiative for this yourself.   |
|   | Always set the starting time for creating a backup at a moment when few actions are being performed in the stall - for example, outside feeding times.  |

### 4.4.1 Creating a schedule backup task

This paragraph explains how you create a backup task simply and quickly. There are also advanced settings for creating a backup task (see Creating an advanced backup task page 73 for more information). You create a backup task as follows:

- 1. Go to Tasks and select Backups.
- 2. Click on the *Farm structure* <sup>1</sup>. The 'Farm structure' display appears.
- 3. Select the control unit for which you want to make a backup.
- 4. Click on the New backup task

| . The followi | ng screen appears: |
|---------------|--------------------|
|---------------|--------------------|

|   |  | x   |
|---|--|---|
| Schedule<br>Interval<br>Days:<br>Hours: | 71 ÷<br>0 ÷  | ,   |
| Minutes:<br>Start<br>C Immediately      | 0 • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •  |   |
| ⊙ Unlimited                             | C End time: 6/22/2012 10:35:43 AM  |   |
|   | < Back Next > Finish Cancel  |   |
|   | Schedule<br>Interval<br>Days:<br>Hours:<br>Minutes:<br>Start<br>Immediately<br>Stop<br>C Unlimited | Schedule         Interval         Days:       1         Hours:       0         Minutes:       0         Start         Immediately       Immediately         Stop         Immediately       End time:         6/22/2012       10:35:43 AM         Stop         Immediately       End time:         6/22/2012       10:35:43 AM |

- 5. In the Interval component, indicate how often the backup must be done.
- 6. In the *Start* component, indicate when the first backup must be done.
  - Immediate: the backup is done immediately.
  - Start time: the backup will be done at the selected moment.

- 7. In the Stop: component, indicate the point up to which the backup should be done.
  - Unlimited: the backup is always done at the desired interval.
  - End time: the backup will include everything done up until the selected moment.
- 8. Click Next.
- 9. Enter a name for the backup task.
- 10. Click *Finish*. The backup task has been created.



If you enter an end time, you must reset the backup after the end's time has passed.

## 4.5 Creating sample data

Sample tasks are used to collect certain information from the connected controllers that you want to monitor. This information can then be displayed in a graph and plotted across time (see Creating and managing graphs page 42). A sample is a snapshot. In the sample task, you determine how often the snapshot is made and which information is registered from the controllers.



You wish to query graphs of the progression of temperature in your stalls. For this reason, you create a simple task for your climate control system. Starting with the current date, you register the 'Measurement value' and 'Control value' data every hour. With this, you can request a graph in which the progression of temperature is displayed with intervals of an hour.

### 4.5.1 Creating a simple sample task

This paragraph explains how you create a sample task simply and quickly. There are also advanced settings for creating a sample task (see Creating an advanced sample task page 29 for more information). You create a sample task as follows:

- 1. Go to Tasks and select Sample data.
- 2. Click on the New sample task 2. The following screen appears:

|          | Code | Source                |
|----------|------|-----------------------|
|          |      |                       |
|          |      |                       |
|          |      |                       |
|          |      |                       |
| Schedule |      |                       |
|          |      |                       |
|          |      | Add Remove Properties |
|          |      |                       |
|          |      |                       |
|          |      |                       |

3. Click on the Add button.

4. Select the type of controller whose sample data you wish to use and click on *Next*. The overview screen appears for the selected controller.

| 🖳 Data Source Wiz | a (  | × |
|-------------------|--|---|
| Туре              | Data value   |   |
|                   | Oversicht F21<br>Installateur<br>Aterversicht         Stal 1         Overzicht F21         10:52           Stal 1         1         AFD-01         -         < |   |
|                   | Codes Edit   |   |
| Data value        | Delete   |   |
| Advanced >>       | < Back Next > Finish Cance   |   |

On the left side of the overview screen, you see the menu of the selected controller. You can page through this menu to arrive at the proper screen.

5. Click on the field of the sample data that you wish to use. The following screen appears:

| Edit code              |                    | ×  |
|------------------------|--------------------|----|
| Name<br>Text<br>TextID |                    | 0  |
|                        | OK Cancel Advanced | >> |

- In the *Text* field, enter the title of the sample data and click *OK*. The title will be used as a graph label in F-Central FarmManager. The *TextID* gets filled in automatically. Repeat steps 5 and 6 if you wish to use multiple sets of sample data.
- 7. Click the *Finish* button. The sample data is displayed as data sources.

8. Click Next. The following screen appears:

| Sample Task Wizard |  | ×  |
|--------------------|--|----|
| Data sources       | Schedule   |    |
| Schedule           | ✓ Automatic sampling         Interval         Days:       1         Hours:       0         Minutes:       0         Start       •         Immediately       • Start date/time         6/22/2012       ▼         Stop       •         • Unimited       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       •         • •       • |    |
|                    | Maximum history       C Weeks       5000       The samples:       Image samples:       1000  |    |
| Identification     |  |    |
|                    | < Back Next > Finish Canc  | el |

- 9. Indicate how the sample data must be sampled:
  - Automatically: the program creates a sample according to the set schedule. Continue with step 10.
  - Manually: you create a sample manually. Continue with step 14. (for more information, see Starting a manual sample task "Start a sample task manually" page 39)
- 10. In the Interval component, indicate how often sample data must be retrieved.
- 11. In the Start component, indicate when the first sample data must be retrieved.
  - *Immediate*: the sample data is retrieved immediately.
  - Start time: the sample data is retrieved at the chosen moments and for the chosen interval.
- 12. In the Stop component, indicate when the sample data must be stopped.
  - Unlimited: the sample data is always retrieved at the desired interval.
  - End time: the sample data will be retrieved up until the selected time.
- 13. In the *Maximum history* component, indicate how along the sample data must be kept.
- 14. Click Next.
- 15. Enter a title for the sample task and indicate whether the sample data should be saved in a CSV file.
- 16. Click *Finish*. The sample task has been created.



If you enter an ending time at step 12, you must reset the sample data again after passing the ending time.

# 4.6 Create a simple graph

2.

This paragraph explains how you create a graph simply and quickly. There are also advanced settings for creating a graph (see Creating an advanced graph "Creating advanced graphs" page 42 for more information). You create a graph as follows:

1. Go to Control units and select Graphs.

| apri wizaru |           |                          |          |    |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------|----------|----|
| Tasks       | Tasks     |                          |          |    |
|             | Selection | Task title               | Archive  | _  |
|             |           | FM4F-F78A2               | No       | _  |
|             |           | F37 climate notification | No       | =  |
|             |           | F47B1-BDM                | No       |    |
|             |           | FM4F-F21B1               | No       |    |
|             | 님         | F47B1 sample per uur     | No       |    |
|             | H         | F47BT sample dagelijks   | NO<br>Na |    |
| Codes       | IH        | E21 notifications        | No       | -  |
|             | •         |                          |          | Þ. |
|             |           |                          |          |    |

- 3. Select the sample tasks whose data you wish to include in the graph and click on Next.
- 4. Select the sample information (codes) you wish to include in the graph and click on Next.
- 5. Enter a name for the graph.
- 6. Click on *Finish* to save the graph. If you have selected the proper location or device in the 'farm structure' or 'device structure', the graph will be displayed immediately.

|   | You can use the same sample task for multiple graphs. So you don't need to create a separate sample task for each graph.  |
|---|---|
| ۹ | You have created a sample task from the controller F21B1.10 with the sample information 'target value' and 'temperature'. 24 control units are links to this controller. Due to this, the sample data from all 24 control units are maintained in the sample task.  |
|   | When creating the graph, you choose the sample task and the sample data 'target value' and<br>'temperature'. When calling up the graph, you determine the control units from which you wish to request<br>data. If the graph becomes too cluttered, you can limit the amount of information, for example. |

2.

# 5. Operating controllers

In F-Central FarmManager, it is possible to operate all connected controllers remotely. You see exactly the same operation screen in the program as you do in the connected controller. All the settings that you enter via the program are carried out directly in the controller.

# 5.1 Opening the operating screen of a controller

- 1. Go to Control units and select Operation.
  - Click on the View farm structure
- 3. Select a controller. The operating screen of the selected controller appears in the work area:





The work area of the operating screen consists of two parts: the menu from the selected controller and the screen. Click on the various menu parts to browse through the controller.

# 5.2 Entering values via the operating screen

Via F-Central FarmManager, you can enter values in the controller. You can recognise the values that you can enter from their white background color. If you click on a value, you can enter the value with your keyboard and mouse.

If you change the values and press *Enter*, you jump to the next column to the right by default. If you fill in one column, by way of example, it may be desirable to jump down. For this, you can use the shortcut *CTRL* + *D* (down) (for more information, see Using shortcuts "Using shortcut keys" page 24). If you then press *Enter*, you jump down a line.

#### **Changing values**

- 1. Click on the value you wish to change.
- 2. At a multiple-choice menu, select the desired value or enter the desired value in an open field using the keyboard and mouse.
- 3. Click *Enter* to confirm the entry.



With the *Escape* key on your keyboard, you can leave the entry field without saving your entry.

In the screen below, you can change the Status clock and the columns On, Off and Status. The Clock Q situation line has a white background and cannot be changed. Water ▲ 16:56 Waterklok Stal 1 65 Ľ, Status klok VP-VRIJ Status uitgang klok Klok situatie AAN Aar Uit Status 16:56 22:00 7:00 VRIJ VRT: VRI --:-VRII Ē 'n 12 16 20 24 8 Terug Tijden Hoeveelh Alarm Koppeling After you have entered a value, you can press one of the arrow keys on your keyboard. You then proceed to the following field. If you also wish to enter a value in the next field, press F2.

# 5.3 Browsing through the operating screen

Operating screens may comprise multiple pages. Each page is indicated with a sequence number (index). If, for example, you use five components, you see a sequence number at the top right of the operation screen. Using the *Page Up* and *Page Down* keys on your keyboard, you can browse easily through the sequence numbers (indexes).



# 5.4 Using shortcut keys

With the shortcut keys below, you can operate the controller with your keyboard.

| Кеу                 | Function                                      |
|---------------------|---|
| Arrow keys          | Advancing through fields                      |
| Space / F2          | Change selected field                         |
| Esc                 | Leave field without saving input              |
| Page Up / Page Down | Browsing through sequential numbers (indexes) |
| CTRL + D            | After Enter, going down a screen              |
| CTRL + U            | After Enter, going up a screen                |
| CTRL + L            | After Enter, going to the left of the screen  |
| CTRL + R            | After Enter, going to the right of the screen |

# 6. Viewing current overviews

The current overviews in F-Central FarmManager can play an important role in the support of your daily work activities. In these overviews you see the current information about your farm and you can adjust as necessary. In F-Central FarmManager, you have:

- Current farm section overviews
- Current alarm overviews

### 6.1 View current farm section overviews

In F-Central FarmManager, you can view overviews of all farm sections. You can view the overviews in *Control units* – *Overviews*.

| 💱 Control Units, Ove | rviews - F-Central FarmManage | er                  |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
|----------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------|-------------|-----------|-------|-------------|--------|--------------------|
| File Edit View Act   | tions Tools Help              |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
| 🤰 🖻 🖻                | 🎍 🤧 🕐                         |                     |             |           |       |             |        | fancom°            |
| Control Units        | Farm Structure                | F422B1 52.1         |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
| ÷                    | E- 🏠 MyFarm<br>E- 🏠 Chickens  | Overviews           | House       |           | Curve | Silo/Compon | Clocks | Version F42.2 B1.b |
| Operation            | - House 1                     | General Silos       |             | An        | mals  |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | General overviews - | houses      |           |       |             |        |                    |
| Overviews            | F41B1 41.1                    |                     | F422B1 52.1 | F422B1 53 | 1     |             |        |                    |
| ××                   | House 2                       | Name                | 20          |           |       |             |        |                    |
| Graphs               | F412B1 51.1                   | Daynumber           | 39          | 1.        | ·0    |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | Food std            | 0.189       | 0.2       | 5     |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | Correction          | 0.000       | 0.0       | 0     |             |        |                    |
| Archives             | E A House 3                   | Reg. Feed / bird    | 0.189       | 0.2       | 5     |             |        |                    |
|                      | F422B1 52.1                   | Feed / bird         | 0.095       | 0.1       | 1     |             |        |                    |
|                      | T F38H2 2 1                   | Req. Feed / house   | 2408.9      | 4100      | .0    |             |        |                    |
|                      | F422B1 53.1                   | Feed / house        | 1442.9      | 2217      | .1    |             |        |                    |
|                      | F44A1 54.1                    |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | Water std.          | 0.340       | 0.3       | 9     |             |        |                    |
|                      | F442B1 57.1                   | Correction          | 0.000       | 0.0       | 0     |             |        |                    |
|                      | Pig House                     | Req. Water / bird   | 0.340       | 0.3       | 9     |             |        |                    |
|                      | Front Cam                     | Water / bird        | 0.000       | 0.00      | 0     |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | Req. Water / house  | 34/8        | /3        |       |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | water / nouse       | 0.0         | U         | .0    |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | Reg W/F             | 1.80        | 11        | 0     |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | W:E ratio           | 0.00        | 0.0       | 0     |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | 11111000            |             |           | _     |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | Weight std.         | 2.142       | 3.3       | 8     |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | Correction          | 0.000       | 0.0       | 0     |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | Actual weight       | 2.142       | 3.3       | 8     |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | No. of birds        | 10230       | 200       | 10    |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               | Alarm               | ALARM       | ALAF      | м     |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
|                      |                               |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
|                      | Overviews ^                   |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
|                      | F41B1a                        |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
|                      | F41010                        |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
| Alarma               | F422B1b                       |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
| Taeke                | F42B1a                        |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
| Custom               | F42B1b                        |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
| System               | FAAAa                         |                     |             |           |       |             |        |                    |
| Alarms ¥ *           | •                             | •                   |             |           |       | m           |        | •                  |
|                      |                               |                     |             |           |       |             |        | $\Theta$           |



F-Central FarmManager contains a number of standard overviews. You can create overviews yourself using the FarmSketcher program. You can also have overviews made. For this, contact your distributor or Fancom.

### 6.1.1 Navigating through the various levels

You can view the current overviews at various levels. The current overviews are displayed in the work area depending on where you are in the 'Farm structure' or 'Device structure' display:

- Farm level S: you see the current overviews of the total farm.
- Stall level 🏠 you see the current overviews of the selected stall and underlying controllers.
- Controller 🖳 you see only the current overviews of the selected controller.

If multiple overviews are available for a controller, you see these at the lower left of the work area. This screen can be found under the 'Farm structure' or 'Device structure' displays:

| Overviews                  |  |
|----------------------------|--|
| F21 pluskey test<br>F21B1a |  |

### 6.1.2 Viewing overviews

Overviews can be viewed in various display forms. Depending on the level at which you view the overview, the relevant information is displayed here:

- Overview in table form
- Overview as a graphic stall display
- Overview as a curve
- Farm-specific overview

#### Overview in table form

| Overviews          |         | House     |       | Curve   |  |  |
|--------------------|---------|-----------|-------|---------|--|--|
| General Si         | los     |           |       | Animals |  |  |
| General overview   | s - hoi | uses      |       |         |  |  |
|                    | F4      | 22B1 52.1 | F422  | B1 53.1 |  |  |
| Name               |         |           |       |         |  |  |
| Daynumber          |         | 39        |       | 148     |  |  |
|                    |         |           |       |         |  |  |
| Feed std.          |         | 0.189     |       | 0.205   |  |  |
| Correction         |         | 0.000     |       | 0.000   |  |  |
| Req. Feed / bird   |         | 0.189     |       | 0.205   |  |  |
| Feed / bird        |         | 0.095     |       | 0.111   |  |  |
| Req. Feed / house  |         | 2408.9    |       | 4100.0  |  |  |
| Feed / house       |         | 1442.9    |       | 2217.1  |  |  |
|                    |         |           |       |         |  |  |
| Water std.         |         | 0.340     |       | 0.369   |  |  |
| Correction         |         | 0.000     |       | 0.000   |  |  |
| Req. Water / bird  |         | 0.340     |       | 0.369   |  |  |
| Water / bird       |         | 0.000     |       | 0.000   |  |  |
| Req. Water / house |         | 3478      |       | 7380    |  |  |
| Water / house      |         | 0.0       |       | 0.0     |  |  |
|                    |         |           |       |         |  |  |
| Req. W:F           |         | 1.80      |       | 1.80    |  |  |
| W:F ratio          |         | 0.00      |       | 0.00    |  |  |
|                    |         |           |       |         |  |  |
| Weight std.        |         | 2.142     |       | 3.308   |  |  |
| Correction         |         | 0.000     |       | 0.000   |  |  |
| Actual weight      |         | 2.142     |       |         |  |  |
| No. of birds       |         | 10230     |       | 20000   |  |  |
|                    |         |           |       |         |  |  |
| Alarm              |         | ALARM     | ALARM |         |  |  |

### Overview as a graphic stall display



#### Overview as a curve

|     | Overvie  | ws        | H    | ouse |         | Curve  |       |      |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
|-----|----------|-----------|------|------|---------|--------|-------|------|-----------------------|---|----|-------|------------|----------|----|----|----|
| Ven | tilatior | n curve   |      |      |         |        |       | _    |                       | - | 1  |       |            |          |    |    |    |
|     | Day      | Birdweigh | Temp | RH   | Extra T | Min m3 | Max % | 3    |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 1   | 1        | 0.042     | 34.0 | 75   | 0.0     | 1.000  | 100   | 2.5  | -                     |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 2   | 7        | 0.154     | 30.0 | 72   | 0.0     | 1.000  | 100   | 2 -  |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 3   | 14       | 0.393     | 26.0 | 71   | 0.0     | 1.000  | T4    | 1.5  |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 4   | 21       | 0.765     | 24.0 | 70   | 0.0     | 1.000  | T4    | 1 -  | <b> </b>              | • | -  |       | _          |          | -  |    |    |
| 5   | 28       | 1.259     | 22.0 | 68   | 0.0     | 1.000  | T4    | 0.5  |                       |   |    | _     |            |          |    |    |    |
| 6   | 35       | 1.816     | 20.0 | 50   | 0.0     | 0.900  | T4    | 0 -  | <b>I1111111111111</b> |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 7   | 42       | 2.386     | 20.0 | 40   | 0.0     | 0.900  | T4    |      | 0                     | 7 | 14 | 21    | 28         | 35       | 42 | 49 | 56 |
| 8   | 49       | 2.873     | 20.0 | 30   | 0.0     | 0.800  | T4    |      |                       |   |    | 🖝 Bi  | rdweight • | 🗗 Min m3 |    |    |    |
| 9   | 56       | 3.308     | 20.0 | 10   | 0.0     | 0.800  | T4    |      |                       |   |    | _     |            |          | _  |    |    |
| 10  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     | 70   |                       | - |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 11  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     | /0 - |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 12  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     | 60 - |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 13  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     | 50 - |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 14  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     | 40 - |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 15  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     | 30 - |                       | - |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 16  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     | 20   |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    | -  |    |
| 17  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     | 10   |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |
| 18  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     | Ċ    | b i                   | 7 | 14 | 21    | 28         | 35       | 42 | 49 | 56 |
| 19  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     |      |                       |   |    | - Tem | oerature - | RH       |    |    |    |
| 20  | 0        | 0.000     | 0.0  | 0    | 0.0     | 0.000  | 0     |      |                       |   |    |       |            |          |    |    |    |

#### Farm-specific overview



Farm-specific overviews can be viewed for one or more controllers.

It is possible to make a farm-specific overview such that data from various controllers is presented on one screen. This gives you a total overview of your farm process with the most important parameters from the Fancom controllers.

| Overviews               |            |           |                |           |
|-------------------------|------------|-----------|----------------|-----------|
|                         |            |           |                |           |
|                         | House I    | House 2   | House 3        | House 4   |
| HouseAvgTemp            | 22.9       | 23.2      | 23.5           | 23.4      |
| House Target Temp       | 21.5       | 21.5      | 22.1           | 22.9      |
| Floor Temp              | 32.0       | 32.7      | 29.0           | 32.6      |
| Humidity                | 72         | 75        | 78             | 81        |
| Pressure                | 33         | 36        | 27             | 32        |
| Daily₩ater              | 4374.0     | 4620.0    | 4345.0         | 4238.0    |
| D aily Feed             | 2550.0     | 2660.0    | 2299.0         | 2440.0    |
| Mortality %             | 2.7        | 2.3       | 2.6            | 1.8       |
| Weight                  | 1534 1510  | 1502 1500 | 1479 1447      | 1412 1371 |
| Growth per day          | 65 55      | 54 52     | 90 81          | 72 58     |
| Growth std.             | 1409       | 1409      | 1320           | 1238      |
| Expected weight         | 1578 1574  | 1561 1562 | 1502 1476      | 1442 1409 |
| Mortality nr of animals | 28         | 0         | 33             | 0         |
| Previous 24hr Water     | 10975.0    | 11344.0   | 10953.0        | 10432.0   |
| C02                     |            | 1823 PPM  |                |           |
|                         | Outside RH | 101 Out   | side Temp 10.7 |           |

# 7. Creating and managing sample tasks

Sample tasks are use to collect certain information from the connected controllers that you want to monitor. This information can then be displayed in a graph and plotted across time (see Creating and managing graphs page 42). A sample is a snapshot. In the sample task, you determine how often the snapshot is made and which information is registered from the controllers.

For collecting certain information from one controller or unit, it is usually enough for you to do a quick-create of a sample task without using the advanced possibilities (see Creating a simple sample task page 18). This chapter explains how you create advanced sample tasks.



You wish to query graphs of the progression of temperature in your stalls. For this reason, you create a simple task for your climate control system. Starting with the current date, you register the 'measurement value' and 'control value' data every hour. With this, you can request a graph in which the progression of temperature is displayed with intervals of an hour.

### 7.1 Creating an advanced sample task

When creating sample tasks, you can also choose advanced settings. With advanced settings, you can make the following specific settings for the sample tasks:

Select sources and control units

You can use this possibility, for example, if you want to use a number of controllers or control units of a specific type, but not all of them.

Select multiple sequential numbers.

If you have more than one of the same device in a department (e.g. multiple heating units), you can select the device (devices) from which you wish to sample the data.

Export sample data.

You can export the sample data created in order to import this into another program.

#### Open the sample task wizard

You can get to the advanced settings via the sample task wizard. You open this wizard as follows:

- 1. Go to *Tasks* and select *Sample data*.
- 2. Click on the *New sample task* button for add a new sample task.
- 3. Click on the *Add* button. The following screen appears:

| 🖳 Data Source Wizar | d   |                            |        |               | ×      |
|---------------------|---|----------------------------|--------|---------------|--------|
| Туре                | Source  |                            |        |               |        |
|                     | Type         F7841.1           F7841.1         F2781.2           F4281.2         F4811.2           F9271.0         F41281.4           F3251.2         F3841.0           F44281.0         F44281.0           F44281.4         F4481.4           F4781.4         eYeNamic | Selection:<br>No selection |        |               |        |
| Data value          |   |                            |        |               |        |
| Advanced >>         |   |                            | < Back | Next > Finish | Cancel |

4. Click on the Advanced button. You can set the advanced sample task settings here.



### 7.1.2 Select sources and control units



You have for controllers of the F38 type. One of these controllers is not being used at the moment. You want to set up a sample task for the other three F38 controllers. For this reason, you select only the three active controllers at the advanced settings.

You select the advanced sources and control units as follows:

- 1. Open the sample task wizard and choose Advanced to open the advanced settings.
- 2. Select the controller whose sample data you wish to use and click on Next. The Source screen appears:

| 🖳 Data Source Wizard | 1  |                |               |        |        | <b>—</b> × <b>—</b> |
|----------------------|--|----------------|---------------|--------|--------|---------------------|
| Туре                 | Source   |                |               |        |        |                     |
|                      | <ul> <li>One specified controller</li> </ul>       | WebLinkBox F21 | B1 1          | •      |        |                     |
|                      | C Several specified controllers                    | Route          | Name<br>F21R1 | Number |        |                     |
|                      |  |                | 12101         |        |        |                     |
|                      |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
| Source               |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
|                      |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
|                      |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
|                      | C All controllers of the specified type and versio | n              |               |        |        |                     |
|                      |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
| Control unit         |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
|                      |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
|                      |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
|                      |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
|                      |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
| ∥<br>Data value      |  |                |               |        |        |                     |
| << Advanced          |  |                | < Back        | Next > | Finish | Cancel              |

- 3. Select the desired controller(s):
  - One specified controller: select one controller from the drop-down list.
  - Severalspecified controllers: select one or more controllers from the list.
  - All controllers of a specified type and version: select all controllers.

4. Click Next. The following screen appears:

| 🖳 Data Source Wizard |                                   |   |                                     | 3 |
|----------------------|-----------------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|---|
| Туре                 | Control unit                      |   |                                     |   |
|                      | One specified Control unit        | 2   | V                                   |   |
| Source               | C Several specified Control units | Control unit       1       2       3       4       5       6       7       8       9       10 |                                     |   |
| Control unit         |                                   |   |                                     |   |
| << Advanced          |                                   |   | <back next=""> Finish Cancel</back> |   |

- 5. Select the desired control units:
  - One specified control unit: select one control unit from the drop-down list.
  - Several specified control units: select one or more control units from the list.
- 6. Click Next. You can now select the information values from the selected controllers and control units.

#### 7.1.3 Select multiple sequential numbers.

Information from a controller can be standalone (for example, the number of animals) or they may be part of a series (for example, the temperature curve). You can select information from a series in one go. In this way, you don't have to enter the values one for one in the wizard. You select a value with sequential numbers as follows:

- 1. Open the sample task wizard and choose Advanced to open the advanced settings.
- 2. Select the controller whose sample data you wish to use and click on Next until the following screen appears:



- 3. Click on the field of the sample data that you wish to use.
- 4. In the *Text* field, enter the title of the sample data and click *Advanced*. The title will be used as a graph label in F-Central FarmManager. The *TextID* is entered automatically. The following screen appears:

| Edit code     |                             |       |            |            | ×  |
|---------------|-----------------------------|-------|------------|------------|----|
| Name          |                             |       |            |            |    |
| Text          |                             |       |            |            |    |
| TextID        |                             |       |            |            | •  |
|               |                             |       |            |            |    |
| 'File code'   |                             |       |            |            |    |
| File          | 43 🔹                        | Code  | 1          | -          |    |
| Offset        | 0 -                         |       |            |            |    |
| C Fixed for s | e index:<br>everal indices: | Range | Index<br>1 | ¥          |    |
|               |                             | OK    | Cancel     | << Advance | ed |

- 5. Fill all the fields in as follows:
  - File Code: a unique identification number for a given value.
  - Fixed for an index: select one single sequential number.
  - Fixed for multiple indexes: select multiple values with sequential numbers.
- 6. Click on the *Range* button to select multiple sequential numbers.

| Choose index range                                 | <b>—</b>                               |
|--|--|
| <ul> <li>Index range:</li> </ul>                   | <b>I</b>                               |
| Enter index numbers and<br>separated by commas. Fo | /orindex ranges<br>rexample: 2, 4, 6-9 |
| C Select all indices                               |  |
| OK   | Cancel                                 |

- *Index range*: the range of the sequential numbers (an *Index range* of 6-9 means that you select the sequential numbers 6, 7, 8 and 9).
- Select all indexes: select all unavailable sequential numbers.

### 7.1.4 Export sample data

You can export the created sample information and save it as a CSV file. You can also use these sample data outside F-Central FarmManager - for example, in a management information system. You create an export file for a sample task as follows:

- 1. Go to *Tasks* and select *Sample data*.
- 2. Click on the New sample task button



- 3. Choose the desired source information and compose the desired schedule.
- 4. Click the *Next* button. The *Identification* screen appears:

| Data sources | Identification                   |
|--------------|----------------------------------|
|              | TitleType a title for this task: |
| Schedule     | Export                           |
|              | j Use raw values                 |
|              |                                  |
|              |                                  |

- 5. Enter the title of the sample task.
- 6. In the *Export* component, select the settings for the export:
  - *Export Sample Data to CSV files*: Every time a sample is created, the sample data is automatically exported.
  - Use raw values: The sample information is stored unformatted.
- 7. Click the *Finish* button.

At the first export, two files are created for each control unit and sample task:

- CSV file: the sample information from the controller, including date and time.
- TXT file: information about the sample task.

At every subsequent export, a line of export information is added to the CSV file. Each line contains the date and time on which the sample was made.

The sample data is stored on the hard drive of your computer. By default, the program stores these files in the folder '<disk>\Data\Fancom\FarmManager\Sample', where <disk> is the workstation on which F-Central FarmManager is installed. The file names are created automatically according to the following protocol:

- G\_<sample>\_<route>\_<controller>.CSV
- WC\_<sample>\_<route>\_<controller>.TXT

The names between <tags> refer to the name of the sample, the route and the control unit.
Q

You make an export based on the following information:

Sample title: Climate

Route: ELT721.002

Control unit: F38.10.6

The following export files are created:

- G\_Climate\_ ELT721.002\_F38.10.6.CSV
- WG\_Climate\_ ELT721.002\_F38.10.6.TXT

### 7.2 Viewing sample tasks

For each sample task, you can view information via the menu *Tasks* – *Sample Data*. Via the displays 'Farm structure' or 'Device structure', you determine which sample tasks are displayed. Select the highest level to view all sample tasks. In the work area, you see the following components:



1. Summary of the created sample tasks per farm section including the information for each sample task.

- 2. Details of the selected sample task.
- 3. Schedule settings for the selected sample task.
- 4. Warnings of exceeding the maximum number of sample tasks.

### 7.2.1 Summary of the created sample tasks

For each sample task, the following information is displayed:

| Title                       | Creation time   | Task type | Status  | Predefined | Archive |
|-----------------------------|-----------------|-----------|---------|------------|---------|
| F21 notifications           | 20-4-2012 14:54 | Automatic | Started | No         | No      |
| F37 climate notification    | 18-4-2012 14:42 | Automatic | Started | No         | No      |
| F37C1 15 minutes Climate    | 17-4-2012 11:50 | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| F37C1 15 minutes Registrate | 17-4-2012 11:50 | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| F38H2 10 minutes HE         | 17-4-2012 11:51 | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| F38H2 15 minutes Climate    | 17-4-2012 11:51 | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| F38H2 15 minutes Registrate | 17-4-2012 11:51 | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| F47B1 sample dagelijks      | 19-4-2012 8:12  | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| F47B1 sample per uur        | 19-4-2012 8:12  | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| F47B1-BDM                   | 19-4-2012 8:12  | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| F78A1_Fancom samples        | 4-6-2012 10:55  | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| FM21 climate values         | 21-6-2012 9:40  | Automatic | Started | No         | No      |
| FM4F-F21B1                  | 17-4-2012 9:11  | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| FM4F-F78A2                  | 17-4-2012 9:10  | Automatic | Started | Yes        | No      |
| iData-F21B1                 | 24-4-2012 13:48 | Automatic | Started | No         | No      |
| -D. J. 670                  | 10 5 0010 10 10 |           |         |            |         |

- *Title*: the name of the sample task.
- Creation time: the date and the moment at which the sample task was made.
- Task type: the type of sample task.
  - Automatic: the sample task will be executed with a fixed regularity.
  - Manual: the sample task will be performed manually.
- Status: the current status of the sample task.
  - Not yet started: the sample task is not yet started.
  - Started: the sample task has started.
  - *Ready*: no more samples are being taken.
- Pre-defined: the sample task (the pre-defined file) is imported automatically by F-Central FarmManager.
- Archive: read-out of whether an archive has been built for the selected sample task (Yes/No).

#### 7.2.2 View the details of the selected sample task

When you select a sample task, the details of this sample task appear at the lower left of the work area. In the *Code* column, you see the names of the sample info that is used in the selected sample task. In the *Source* column, you see the controller from which the information has come.

| Details  |                               |
|----------|-------------------------------|
| Code     | Source                        |
| max vent | F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 |
| Min vent | F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 |
| Bandwith | F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 |
| Time     | F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 |
| Set temp | F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 |
| Act vent | F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 |
|          |                               |

### 7.2.3 View settings for the selected sample task

When you select a sample task, the schedule settings for this sample task appear at the lower right of the work area.

| Start             |                |
|-------------------|----------------|
| Start time:       | 21-6-2012 9:41 |
|                   |                |
| End time:         | No stop        |
|                   |                |
| Interval          |                |
| Days              | 0              |
| Hours             | 0              |
|                   |                |
| Minutes           | 10             |
| - Maximum history |                |
| maximum motory    |                |
| Weeks             | 4              |
| Days              | 6              |
|                   | 17             |
| Hours             | 17             |
|                   |                |

### 7.2.4 View the limit of the selected sample task

When you select a sample task, the active limits for this sample task appear at the lower right of the work area. These are the warnings that appear when the maximum number of sample tasks are exceeded.

| Active limits                                 |
|---|
| Active mills                                  |
| Maximum number of samples per minute: 300 (8) |
| maximum number of sumples per minute. See (6) |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |

### 7.2.5 View the history of the selected sample task

A history is saved for each sample task. You can request the history of a sample task as follows:

- 1. Select a sample task.
- 2. Click the Sample task information . The following screen appears with the history:

| 🝖 Sample ta             | sk information                   |   | <b>— X</b> |
|-------------------------|----------------------------------|---|------------|
| Runs:                   |                                  |   |            |
| ID                      | Status                           | Start time  |            |
| 23493<br>20795<br>20788 | Finished<br>Finished<br>Finished | 6/22/2012 - 2:40 PM<br>6/7/2012 - 1:08 PM<br>6/7/2012 - 1:01 PM |            |
|                         |                                  |   |            |
|                         |                                  |   |            |
|                         |                                  |   |            |
|                         |                                  |   |            |
|                         |                                  |   |            |
|                         |                                  |   |            |
|                         |                                  |   |            |
|                         |                                  |   |            |
|                         |                                  | Clos  | •          |
|                         |                                  |   |            |



The screen is refreshed automatically. In this way, new sample information is added to the window automatically.

# 7.3 Changing sample tasks



Be careful when changing sample tasks. An incorrect change can have an impact on the grounds that particular sampling task is based on.

- 1. Go to *Tasks* and select *Sample data*.
- 2. Select the desired sample task.
- 3. Click on the *Edit task* S. The following screen appears:

| Sample Task Wizard |   |  |
|--------------------|---|--|
| D ata sources      | Data sources   Schedule   Io<br>Data sources  | Jentification  |
|                    | Code<br>Min, Temp, house<br>Max, Temp, house<br>Min, RH house<br>Min, Temp, outside<br>Max, Temp, outside | Source           F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 1.3 / F21B1 1.4 / F21B1           F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 1.3 / F21B1 1.4 / F21B1           F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 1.3 / F21B1 1.4 / F21B1           F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 1.3 / F21B1 1.4 / F21B1           F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 1.3 / F21B1 1.4 / F21B1           F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 1.3 / F21B1 1.4 / F21B1           F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 1.3 / F21B1 1.4 / F21B1           F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1.2 / F21B1 1.3 / F21B1 1.4 / F21B1 |
| Schedule           |   |  |
|                    |   | Add Remove Properties  |
| Identification     |   |  |
|                    |   | < Back Next > Finish Cancel  |

- 4. Change the data.
- 5. Click on *Finish* to save the changes.

## 7.4 Start a sample task manually



You can start sample tasks manually only if you have not selected *Automatic sampling* when creating the sample task. For more information, see Creating simple tasks "Creating a simple sample task" page 18).

Automatic sampling

You start the sample task manually as follows:

- 1. Go to *Tasks* and select *Sample data*.
- 2. Select the desired sample task.
- 3. Click on the *Execute manual task* The program executes the simple task. Once the sampling is finished, the following appears in the screen:

| F-Central Far | mManager |    |
|---------------|----------|----|
|               | Sample   |    |
| Status: Finis | hed      |    |
|               |          |    |
|               |          |    |
|               |          | ОК |
|               |          |    |

### 7.5 Supporting tasks

#### Change the name of sample information

You can change the name of sample information. In this way, you can shorten names that are too long, for example. The new name will be used in graphs that are based on the sample information. You change the name of sample information as follows:

- 1. Go to *Tasks* and select *Sample data*.
- 2. Click on the *Edit task* Click on the *Edit task*. The sample task wizard opens.
- 3. Select the desired Information source and then click the *Properties* button. The following screen appears:



- 4. At the bottom of the screen, select the code and click on the Edit button.
- 5. Enter a new name for the sample information and click on *OK* to save the new name.

#### Removing a sample task

Be careful when removing sample tasks. An incorrect change can have an impact on the grounds that particular sampling task is based on.

If you no longer wish to make use of a given sample task, then you can remove it. You remove a sample task as follows:

- 1. Go to Tasks and select Sample data.
- 2. Select the desired sample task.

3. Click the Delete

#### Importing and exporting sample information

For more information, see Importing and exporting sample definitions and graph definitions "Exporting and importing sample definitions and graph definitions" page 53.

# 8. Creating and managing graphs

In F-Central FarmManager, you can create and manage graphs. The information displayed in the graphs is based on sample data. These data are snapshots of specific information from the connected controller(s) that you wish to monitor, arranged across time. Together these snapshots form a series of data points that can be displayed in the form of a graph.

Sample data is collected from sample tasks. Before you can create a graph, sample tasks must first be created (see Creating and managing sample tasks page 29 for more information).

Graphs provide the following possibilities:

- Rapid insight into your farm information
- Comparison of current graphs with stored graphs
- Comparison of graphs from multiple controllers or units
- Querying of the information on which the graphs are based, e.g. in the form of a table.
- Exporting graphs as an image or a table

To create a graph, a simple graph is usually it is usually sufficient without using the advanced possibilities (see Creating a simple sample graph "Create a simple graph" page 20). This chapter explains how you create advanced graphs.

### 8.1 Creating advanced graphs

2.

When creating graphs, you can also choose advanced settings. With advanced settings, you can make specific settings for the scale of the x- and y-axis. You do this as follows:

1. Go to Control Units and select Graphs.

| Click on the New              | / graph 🎽 | . The following screen appears:   |                                       |        |
|-------------------------------|-----------|---|---------------------------------------|--------|
| Graph Wizard                  |           |   |                                       | ×      |
| Tasks                         | Tasks     |   |                                       |        |
|                               | Selection | Task title       FM4F-F78A2       F37 climate notification       F47B1-BDM       FM4F-F21B1       F47B1 sample per uur       F47B1 sample dagelijke | Archive<br>No<br>No<br>No<br>No<br>No |        |
| Codes                         |           | F47B1 sample dagelijks<br>F21 notifications<br>in the E01P1<br>III  | No<br>No                              | T.     |
| Identification<br>Advanced >> |           | < Back Next > Fir   | nish (                                | Cancel |

- 3. Click on the Advanced button. You can set the advanced graph settings here.
- 4. Select the sample tasks whose data you wish to include in the graph and click on Next.

5. Select the sample information (codes) you wish to include in the graph and click on *Next*. The following screen appears:

| Graph Wizard   |   |
|----------------|---|
| Tasks          | X-Axis  |
| Codes          | Secondary     Code     Source     Task title       set temp     F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1     F21 notifications       begin temp vent     F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1     F21 notifications   |
| X-Axis         | Primary Secondary   |
| Y-Axis         | Image: Days         7         ⊡         Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days           Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days         Image: Complete days |
| Identification | Time  |
| << Advanced    | < Back Next > Finish Cancel   |

- 6. In part one, select the sample information you want to use for the secondary x-axis.
- 7. In part two, set the primary and secondary settings (for more information, see Primary and Secondary "Primary and secondary axes" page 44):
  - Auto scale: the program determines the scaling automatically.
  - Days: only the most recently entered number of days will be displayed. Select Complete days if the first and the last day of the range must be displayed completely (24 hours), even if these might not contain data.
  - Start / End: Enter the date range for the x-axis (start date and end date).
  - Title: enter a name for the scale distribution.
- 8. Click Next. The following screen appears:

| Graph Wizard   |   |
|----------------|---|
| Tasks          | Y-Axis  |
| Codes          | Secondary     Code     Source     Task title       set temp     F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1     F21 notifications       begin temp vent     F21B1 1.1 / F21B1 1     F21 notifications |
| X-Axis         | Primary Secondary   |
| Y-Axis         | C Min 0 - Max 0 -<br>Title<br>Value   |
| Identification | < Back Next > Finish Cancel   |

- 9. Select a sample data that you want to use for the y-axis and set the primary and secondary settings (for more information, see Primary and Secondary "Primary and secondary axes" page 44):
  - Automatic scaling: the program determines the scaling automatically.
  - Min / Max: and to the value range for the y-axis (minimum and maximum value).
  - *Title*: enter a name for the scale distribution.
- 10. Click Next.
- 11. Enter a name for the graph and click on *Finish* to save the graph.



### 8.1.1 Primary and secondary axes

Most graphs consist of an x-axis on the bottom and a y-axis to the left. These are called the primary axes. In this program, you can also make use of secondary axes. Here, the x-axis is displayed on the upper side and the y-axis on the right side of the graph. The primary and secondary axes can be displayed together in one graph. The legend makes a distinction between the axes with the following symbols:



You wish to compare temperature data from January and December. In a normal graph, this is difficult, because the graph covers an extended period:



### 8.2 Legend layout

The legend is displayed under the graph. For each piece of sample information, the following information is displayed:

| Setp.HouseTmp                      |  |
|------------------------------------|--|
| MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1] |  |

- Setp.HouseTmp: The name of the sample information.
- MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1: The location and the code of the control unit from which the sample information comes.
- [1,1]: The sequence number (index) ('[' ']')
- The colour of the line in the sample information.
- L: The settings for the x-axis and y-axis (for more information, see Primary and Secondary "Primary and secondary axes" page 44)



A maximum of 10 sample data are displayed in the legend.

## 8.3 Viewing a graph

You can view a graph as follows:

- 1. Go to Control units and selectGraphs.
- 2. Select the farm section or device for which you wish to view the graph.
- 3. Select the title of the graph you wish to view:



The graph of the selected farm section or device appears in the working area.



Only graphs are displayed from the selected level, for example, all graphs from the selected stall or from the selected control unit.

The moment you view a graph, the current information is retrieved and processed in the graph. This happens only if the graph information for the selected farm section or device is available.

#### **Graph layout**

A graph is composed of the following components:



- 1. Graph title: The title of the graph.
- 2. Secondary x-axis: The period that the graph covers.
- 3. Graph information: A graphical display of the sample information (information is displayed as coloured lines).
- 4. Primary y-axis: The graph's scale, such as temperature, weight and number.
- 5. Secondary y-axis: The graph's scale, such as temperature, weight and number.
- 6. Primary x-axis: The period that the graph covers.
- 7. Legend: Information about the displayed sample information (for more information, see Legend layout page 45).
- 8. Tabs:
  - Graph: view a graphical display of the sample information.
  - *Table*: view a table display of the sample information.
  - Codes: set the parameters as to which sample information will be displayed in the graphical and table display.

#### 8.3.2 Navigating through the various graph levels

Stalls may comprise one or more departments. In a stall with various departments, the data that the controller observes is called 'Department dependent data' - for example, the number of animals and the amount of feed. Most data is different for each department. However, in this stall there is also central data, such as date and time. The central data is stored once in the controller and not repeated for each department.

If you select 'Department dependent data' when creating a sample task, the data from all departments is included. If you select central data when creating a sample task, only the data from the first department is included.

In the graphs that you create, the central data is only displayed in the first department.



The display of a graph is dependent on the selected data and the level in the 'Farm structure' or 'Device structure' display. Three possibilities for the display of a graph are explained below.



Q

Q



You query the graph for farm section '1-12' in which 'Department dependent data' and central data are available:

- Department 1-3: Central data.
- Department 4-12: Department dependent data

The graph that is displayed shows the central data and the department dependent data.



### 8.4 Operating a graph

For analysis of the graph, the program offers a number of functions to operate the graph. In this paragraph, the following functions are explained:

- Hiding graph information
- Changing information on the x-axis and y-axis
- Highlighting graph information
- Viewing graph information from a particular moment
- Zooming in and zooming out
- Dragging a graph

#### 8.4.1 Hiding graph information in a graph

If you wish to display less graph information in order to make the graph less cluttered, for example, you can hide graph information. You hide graph information as follows:

1. Open the graph (see Viewing a graph page 46).

On the *Codes* tab: select the desired graph information. All possible graph information is displayed in this overview (also from any other controllers).

- Act pressure.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   Act.phase.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   Act.phase.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   Act.vent.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   House Temp.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   MaxVent%.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   MinVent%.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   MinVent%.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   Setp.Looling.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   Setp.Heater.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   Setp.HouseTmp.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   Setp.HouseTmp.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
   Setp.HouseTmp.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]
- 1. Click the Save button. The selection will now be saved and automatically applied when you request the graph again.

| If you select codes without saving them, these are displayed temporarily in the graph. If you select codes and then click the Save button, the selected codes will be saved permanently. The selected codes are displayed in every graph that you request.  |
|---|
| The codes that you see in the <i>Codes</i> tab are dependent on where you are in the 'Farm structure' or 'Device structure' display.  |
| You can also hide the graph information by double-clicking the desired graph information in the legend.<br>Note! In this manner, the graph information is temporarily hidden. Whenever you call up the graph the<br>next time, you will see the hidden information again. A hidden piece of graph data is indicated in the<br>legend with $\bowtie$ . |

#### 8.4.2 Highlighting graph information

You can highlight graph information as follows:

- 1. Open the graph (see Viewing a graph page 46).
- 2. On the Graph tab: place your mouse on the line you wish to highlight. The other lines are displayed in grey tints.

#### 8.4.3 View graph information from a given moment.

You view graph information from a given moment as follows:

- 1. Open the graph (see Viewing a graph page 46).
- 2. On the *Graph* tab: click the *Toggle graph cursor* **E**. A black vertical line will appear in the graph.
- 3. Drag the line to the left or right to change the moment at which the data is created. As you drag the line, you see the values in the legend change along with this.

|         | 30-04-12 21:04:09   |
|---------|---|
| MinVent | % <u>×</u> _  |
| MyFarm\ | \Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1] 11   |
|         | To view graph information from a given moment, you can also place your mouse cursor on a line. After one second, a balloon appears with the values for the relevant moment. |
|         | House Temp.MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F38H2 2.1[1,1]<br>X: 03-05-12 19:24:26<br>Y: 25.0  |

#### 8.4.4 Zooming in and zooming out

To view graphic information better, you can zoom in on a particular part of the graph:

- 1. Open the graph (see Viewing a graph page 46).
- 2. Click somewhere in the graph area with your mouse.
- 3. Drag over the graph area diagonally with your mouse (from upper left to lower right). This increases the size of the selected box.



Zoom out as follows:

- 1. Click somewhere in the graph area with your mouse.
- 2. Drag over the graph area diagonally with your mouse (from lower right to upper left) or click the Normal view



#### 8.4.5 Dragging a graph

If you zoom in on a certain part of the graph, you can drag the graph from that point:

- 1. Open the graph (see Viewing a graph page 46) and zoom in on a specific area in the graph.
- 2. Keep pressing the right mouse button.
- 3. Drag the graph to the left or to the right.

#### 8.4.6 Hiding the legend

Q

You can increase the display area of the graph by hiding the legend:

- 1. Open the graph (see Viewing a graph page 46).
- 2. Click on the Legend info button to hide the legend.
- 3. To show the legend again, click again on the Legend info

# 8.5 Combining and comparing graphs

You can combine graph information into one graph so that you can compare these with each other.

You have requested a graph from the F38.10 control unit. Here, only the information (code) from this control unit will be displayed. However, the samples also include information from other control units, for example F38.11. This is a control unit from another controller. You can turn on the codes from the F38B2.11.3, which causes the lines to be added to the table. You can compare F38.10 and F38.11 in this manner.

- 1. Go to the *Codes* tab.
- 2. Select the desired graph information. On this tab, a summary of all possible graph information is given (also, possibly, from other controllers).



 Click the Save button. The selection will now be saved and automatically applied when you request the table again.

### 8.6 Save graphs as image or table

You can save a graph as an image or as a table. This allows you, for example, to e-mail the information to someone, to import it into another program or to use it in a presentation.

If you save a graph as an image, the graph is stored as it is displayed in the program. For example, if you have zoomed in, the zoomed-in graph will be stored.



If you save the graph information as a table (CSV file), you can import this into many other programs such as Microsoft Excel.

You save a graph as follows:

- 1. Open the desired graph with the desired graph information.
- 2. Click on the *Export graph* **Export** . The following screen appears:

| Export graph                            | <b>—</b>  |
|---|-----------|
| To which file would you like to export? |           |
|   |           |
| Bitmap                                  |           |
| C CSV file                              |           |
|   |           |
|   | OK Cancel |

- 3. Choose the desired export format and click OK.
- 4. Select the folder in which you wish to save the graph and enter the desired file name.
- 5. Click on Save to save the graph.

# 8.7 Exporting and importing sample definitions and graph definitions

In F-Central FarmManager, you can export and import sample definitions (title of the sample and its identification code) and graft definitions. This applies for the sample tasks and graphs in the menu *Tasks* - *Sample info* and *Control units* - *Graphs*.



The values gotten during sampling will not be imported or exported.

#### Exporting

You export the sample information and graphs as follows:

- 1. Go to Control units and select Graphs.
- 2. Click on the *Export pre-sample file* <sup>1</sup> The following screen appears:

|                  | Name                          | Task tune |  |
|------------------|-------------------------------|-----------|--|
|                  |                               | Automatio |  |
|                  | E37 climate polification      | Automatic |  |
|                  | E47B1-BDM                     | Automatic |  |
|                  | EM4E-F21B1                    | Automatic |  |
|                  | E47B1 sample per uur          | Automatic |  |
|                  | F47B1 sample dagelijks        | Automatic |  |
|                  | F21 notifications             | Automatic |  |
| -<br>graphs      | iData-F21B1                   | Automatic |  |
| i i              | 🔲 iData-F78                   | Automatic |  |
|                  | test                          | Automatic |  |
|                  | 🗖 graden test                 | Manual    |  |
|                  | 🔲 F37C1 15 minutes Registrate | Automatic |  |
|                  | F37C1 15 minutes Climate      | Automatic |  |
|                  | F38H2 15 minutes Registrate   | Automatic |  |
|                  | F38H2 15 minutes Climate      | Automatic |  |
|                  | F38H2 10 minutes HE           | Automatic |  |
|                  |                               |           |  |
| I dentifie ation |                               |           |  |

- 3. Select the sample tasks you wish to export and click on Next.
- 4. Select the graphs you wish to export and click on Next.
- 5. Click on the button and select the folder in which you wish to save the file and enter the desired file name. Save the file preferably in the folder '<drive>\Data\Fancom\FarmManager\PreSample', where <drive> is the workstation on which F-Central FarmManager is installed.
- 6. Click on Save to save the file.



The name of the controller should preferably be included in the file name so that you can locate this easily.

#### Importing sample information and graphs

Import the sample information and graphs as follows:

- 1. Place the file you wish to import in the folder '<drive>\Data\Fancom\FarmManager\PreSample', where <drive> is the workstation on which F-Central FarmManager is installed.
- 2. In F-Central FarmManager, go to Control units and select Graphs.
- 3. Click on the Import pre-sample file
- 4. Select the file you wish to import and then click Open. The following screen appears:

| Import pre-sample file              |   |                           | <b>—</b> ×- |
|-------------------------------------|---|---------------------------|-------------|
| Import pre-sample file Sample tasks | Sample tasks graphs<br>Select the sample tasks to import<br>Name<br>IF M4F-F78A2<br>F37 climate notification<br>F47B1-BDM<br>F47B1-BDM<br>F37C1 15 minutes Registrate<br>F38H2 15 minutes Climate | Controllers/Control Units |             |
| graphs                              |   |                           | Edit task   |
|                                     |   | K Back Next > Fir         | nish Cancel |

- 5. Select the sample tasks you wish to import and click on Next.
- 6. Select the graphs you wish to import and click on Finish. The file will be imported to F-Central FarmManager.

### 8.8 Removing graphs

You might wish first to create an archive before you remove a graph. This way you can always query old information again later. Graphs that are part of an archive cannot be changed. (for more information, see Creating an archive page 69).

If you no longer wish to make use of a given graph, then you can remove it. You remove a graph as follows:

- 1. Go to Control units and select Graphs.
- 2. Select the desired graph.
- 3. Click the Delete

# 9. Creating and managing personal data

F-Central FarmManager generates data based on information from the connected controllers. You can also create data yourself - for example, to perform calculations that cannot be exported via the controllers. This data is called the Plus keys. With the Plus keys, you can:

- Enter extra information yourself.
- Have calculations performed.

Q

• Compare data from various controllers with each other.

You wish to calculate the energy costs of your climate computer. The controller only registers gas consumption per day. With Plus keys, you can add the following codes, for example:

- The daily gas price per m3 (you request this from your energy supplier)
- Cost calculation (multiply gas consumption by the daily gas price)

| F38 Overview               | Gas  | Usage                        |
|----------------------------|--|------------------------------|
| Aarm overview<br>Gas Usage | Gas consumption today<br>Price / m3<br>Gas costs | 60 m3<br>0.42 \$<br>25.20 \$ |

# 9.1 Create personal data

Creating personal data is done in two steps:

- 1. Create a Plus-key. The Plus-key is shown in a controller's menu. 🕄
- 2. Select Plus data. This is how you determine which information is displayed.

#### Create a Plus-key.

| Ŷ  | The Plus keys are created for all controllers.                 |
|----|--|
| 1. | Go to System and select Plus Data.                             |
| 2. | Click on the New Plus key button The following screen appears: |
|    | Plus Key Wizard  |

| Controller type | Controller type   | 8   |       |
|-----------------|---|---|-------|
|                 | Name  | Description                               |       |
|                 | F47B1.4<br>F40A1.4<br>F442B1.0<br>F44A1.0<br>F38H2.0<br>F422B1.2<br>F37C1.2<br>F35C1.0<br>F412B1.4<br>F35C1.0<br>F412B1.4<br>F92Y1.0<br>F41B1.2<br>F42B1.2<br>F78A1.1 | F47                                       |       |
| Identification  |   |   |       |
|                 |   | <pre><back next=""> Finish C</back></pre> | ancel |

- 3. Select the controller for which you wish to create the Plus data and click on Next.
- 4. Enter the name of the Plus key and click on the *Finish* button. The new Plus key is shown in the 'Plus keys' display.

#### Select Plus data

/Ì

Plus data is stored only in F-Central FarmManager, not in the controllers.

- 1. Go to System and select Plus Data.
- 2. In the 'Plus keys' display, select a Plus key for which you wish to choose Plus data.
- 3. Click on the *New Plus data* button . The following screen appears:

| Plus Data Wizard |                             |                     | × |
|------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------|---|
| Controller type  | Plus Data                   |                     |   |
|                  | Identification              |                     |   |
|                  | Type<br>Simple data         |                     |   |
|                  | C Formula<br>C Process Data |                     |   |
| Plus Keys        | Simple data                 |                     |   |
|                  | Data type                   | Decimal             |   |
|                  | Unit                        |                     |   |
|                  | Decimals                    | 2 *                 |   |
|                  |                             |                     |   |
| <br>Plus Data    |                             |                     |   |
|                  |                             | Kext> Finish Cancel |   |

- 4. In the *Identification* field, enter the name of the Plus data.
- 5. Select the type of Plus data:
  - *Simple Data*: Extra data that you can enter yourself, such as a value, time or date. See Adding simple data page 58.
  - *Formula*: Formula for performing a calculation. See Adding a formula page 59.
  - Process information: An existing item from a controller. See Adding process information "Add process information" page 60.

### 9.1.2 Adding simple data

If you've selected Simple data at the Plus data type, the screen below appears:

| Simple data |         |          |  |
|-------------|---------|----------|--|
| Data type   | Decimal | -        |  |
| Unit        |         |          |  |
| Decimals    | 2       | <u>.</u> |  |
|             |         |          |  |
|             |         |          |  |

- 1. Enter the simple data:
  - Information type: enter the information (Numerical / Time / Date).
  - Unit: enter the unit, e.g., 'Euro' or 'Kilogram'.
  - Decimals: select the number of decimals this information contains (this option is available only if you have selected the info type Numerical).
- 2. Click on the *Finish* button to save the Plus data.

### 9.1.3 Adding a formula

Ţ

- Formula -

Formulas cannot be changed after saving.

If you've selected Simple data for Formula, the screen below appears:

| Farmula  |     | Argum | ents       |              |
|----------|-----|-------|------------|--------------|
| Formula  |     | ID    | Text       | Туре         |
| #1*#2    |     | #1    | Feed total | Process Data |
| Unit     |     | #2    | Feed Price | Simple data  |
| Euro     |     |       |            |              |
| Decimals |     |       |            | 1            |
| Decimais | 2 . |       | Rem        | nove Add     |

1. Click on the Add button. The following screen appears:

| Add formula argument                                       | ×    |
|--|------|
| From which data would you like to add an formula argument? |      |
| Process Data   |      |
| 🔿 Plus Data  |      |
|  |      |
| OK Car   | icel |

- 2. Select the formula argument you wish to add:
  - Process information: value from a controller.
  - Plus data: value from self-made Plus data
- 3. Click OK.
- 4. Select the desired value and then click Finish. Repeat steps 1 through 4 if you wish to add multiple arguments.
- 5. Click on the *Finish* button to save the Plus data.
- 6. Enter the formula:
  - Formula: enter the formula using the following characters:

| Calculation            | Characte<br>r | Example | Result |
|------------------------|---------------|---------|--------|
| Add                    | +             | 5+2     | 7      |
| Subtract               | -             | 5-2     | 3      |
| Multiply               | *             | 5*2     | 10     |
| Divide                 | /             | 5/2     | 2.5    |
| Exponentiation         | ٨             | 5^2     | 25     |
| Division of remainders | %             | 5%2     | 1      |

- Unit: enter the unit, e.g., 'Euro' or 'Kilogram'.
- Decimals: select the number of decimals in the formula.

Division of remainder: the % formula determines the remainder of a division operation. First, the division operation is performed. The result is rounded down to the nearest whole number. This results in a remainder, the result of the calculation.



Division of remainder: 5/2 = 2.5

By rounding down the result (2.5), a remainder of 1 occurs. Remainder calculation 5%2 = 1

#### 9.1.4 Add process information

If you've selected *Process information* at the Plus data type, the screen below appears:

| Process Data |        |  |
|--------------|--------|--|
| Process Data | Select |  |
|              |        |  |
|              |        |  |
|              |        |  |
|              |        |  |

- 1. Click the Select button.
- 2. Select the desired process information from the controller and click Finish.
- 3. Click on the *Finish* button to save the Plus data.

## 9.2 Sorting personal data

After creating Plus keys and Plus summaries, you can sort them. You can do this to make a logical layout, for example.

- 1. Go to System and select Plus data.
- 2. Select a Plus key or Plus data that you wish to sort.
- Click on the *Plus key down* button or *Plus key up* to move the Plus key.
   Click on the *Plus data down* or *Plus data up* to move the Plus data key.

### 9.3 View personal data

Operating the Plus keys is the same as the operation of the controller. For more information, see Operating controllers page 22.

Plus keys are added to the menu of a controller.

- 1. Go to Control units and select Operation.
- 2. Select the controller for which you have created Plus keys.
- 3. Select the Plus key. The result appears in the work area



### 9.4 Changing Plus keys



You can only change the name of a Plus key.

- 1. Go to System and select Plus data.
- 2. Select the desired controller in the 'Farm structure' display.
- 3. Select the desired Plus key from which you want to change the information in the 'Plus keys' display.
- 4. Click on the Edit Plus key
- 5. Go to the *Identification* tab and change the name.
- 6. Click on *Finish* to save the change.

## 9.5 Changing Plus data

- 1. Go to *System* and select *Plus data*.
- 2. Select the desired controller in the 'Farm structure' display.
- 3. Select the desired Plus keys (left-hand side of the work area) from which you want to change the information in the 'Plus keys' display.
- 4. Select the desired Plus data from which you want to change the information in the 'Plus data' display.
- 5. Click on the Edit Plus data
- 6. Change the information and click on *Finish* to save the changes.

### 9.6 Removing Plus keys and Plus data

If you no longer wish to make use of a certain Plus key or Plus data, you can remove these. You remove a Plus key or Plus data as follows:

- 1. Go to System and select Plus data.
- 2. Select the desired Plus key or Plus data.
- 3. Click the Delete X.

# 10. Creating and managing e-mail notifications

Using F-Central FarmManager, you can send notifications about backup tasks, sample tasks and alarms to one or more e-mail addresses. As soon as a loud alarm occurs on your farm, for example, you receive an e-mail message, possibly along with other people. Since you are automatically kept apprised of certain statuses, you always have control over your farm. So you don't always have to be present in the stall or at your computer to have insight into the situation on your farm. Configuring e-mail notifications consists of the following steps:

- 1. Set the server settings
- 2. Add contacts/recipients
- 3. Set time schedules
- 4. Setting notifications

0

#### 10.1 Set the server settings

- 1. Go to System and select Notifications.
- 2. Enter the server settings. You can request the server settings from your Internet provider.

| Server Outgoing Mail       |  |
|----------------------------|--|
| Outgoing E-Mail(SMTP) Port |  |
| Username                   |  |
| Password                   |  |
|                            |  |

Use SSL for security on this SMTP Server

The server settings for Gmail and Hotmail are as follows.

|  | Gmail          | Hotmail        |
|--|----------------|----------------|
| Outgoing mail server                     | smtp.gmail.com | smtp.live.com  |
| Outgoing e-mail (SMTP)<br>port           | 587            | 587            |
| User name                                | Your user name | Your user name |
| Password                                 | Your password  | Your password  |
| Use SSL as security for this SMTP server | Tick off       | Tick off       |

3. Click on the Apply button to save the server settings.

#### 10.2 Add contacts/recipients

- Go to System and select Notifications. 1.
  - Click on the Add receiver 4. You can add the information for a new contact person in the work area:

| Name            |  |
|-----------------|--|
| E-Mail Address: |  |
| Description:    |  |

- Name: The name of the new recipient.
- E-mail address: The e-mail address of the new recipient. •
- Description: Description of the new recipient (position title, for example).
- 3. Click on the Apply button to save the new recipient.



2.

You can send a test e-mail to the new recipient: click on the Send test e-mail button.

#### Set time schedules 10.3

Coordinate the time schedules for notifications with those of sample tasks! The interval of both time schedules must overlap each other, otherwise no notification will be sent.

- 1. Go to System and select Notifications.

2. Click on the Add Time schedule <sup>1</sup> You can add the information for the new time schedule in the work area:

| 🗹 Monday    | Time S         | chedule Name: |  |
|-------------|----------------|---------------|--|
| 🗹 Tuesday   | Working hours  |               |  |
| 🗹 Wednesday |                |               |  |
| 🗹 Thursday  | Start Time:    | 8:00 AM       |  |
| 🗹 Friday    | otart rime.    |               |  |
| 🗆 Saturday  | End Time:      | 5:00 PM       |  |
| 🗆 Sunday    | 🗆 Last All Day |               |  |

- *Time schedule name*: The name of the time schedule. •
- Data: The days of the week that the time schedule is active.
- Start time: The starting time of the time schedule.
- End time: The ending time of the time schedule. •
- Last all day: Select this option if the time schedule is active for the entire day.

### **10.4 Setting notifications**



If you wish to set a notification for sample tasks, you must first create a separate sample task for notification (see Creating and Managing sample tasks page 29).

It is not possible to receive notifications for each department. If you select a department from a controller, you receive notifications from all departments from that particular controller.

This paragraph tells you how to set notifications for backup tasks, sample tasks and alarms. The first six steps are below. These are the same for each notification. In the following paragraphs, additional steps are explained that are unique for each type of notification. You set a notification as follows:

- 1. Go to *Tasks* and select *Notifications*.
- 2. Click on the *New notification task* . The notification wizard appears:



- 3. Click the *Next* button.
- 4. Select one or more receivers and click Next.
- 5. Select one or more time schedules and then click Next.
- 6. Select the information you wish to put in the notifications:
  - Sample tasks: proceed with Making a notification of sample tasks "Make a notification of sample tasks." page 65.
  - Backup tasks: proceed with Making a notification of backup tasks page 66.
  - Alarms: proceed with Making a notification of alarms page 67.

#### **10.4.1** Make a notification of sample tasks.



After setting the sample task notifications, you received one e-mail for each sample task.

Fancom advises making a few sample-tasks a day e.g. once a day 1 overview. It is possible that you do not receive an e-mail notification if you use more than 10 sample-tasks.

Continue the Setting notifications page 64 procedure as follows:

1. Click Next. The following screen appears:

| 🗔 Enter a new notification job  |               | - • ×  |
|---|---------------|--------|
| Sample Task Settings<br>Define the sample task settings for this notification job   |               |        |
| Selected sample tasks   |               |        |
| FM4F-F78A2         F37 climate notification         F47B1-8DM         FM4F-F21B1         F47B1 sample dagelijks         F47B1 sample dagelijks         F21 notifications         iData-F21B1         iData-F78         test         graden test         F37C1 15 minutes Registrate |               |        |
| <ul> <li>Only send notification when task fails</li> <li>Add CSV file as attachement</li> <li>Add result to notification</li> </ul>   |               |        |
|   | < Back Next > | Cancel |

- 2. Select the sample task for which you wish to receive notifications (the separate sample task for notifications) and select the following options (optional):
  - Onlu send notification when task fails: You will then receive an e-mail only if a task fails.
  - Add CSV file as attachment: You receive the results of the sample task as an attachment (CSV file) in the e-mail message.
  - Add result to notification: You receive the results of the sample task in the body of the e-mail message. If
    you don't select this option, you will see the status of the sample task in the subject line of the e-mail
    message.
- 3. Click Next and enter the name of the notification.
- 4. Click on *Finish* to save the notification.

If you don't select any of the options at step two, you receive a notification both when the task fails and when it succeeds.

### 10.4.2 Making a notification of backup tasks

Continue the Setting notifications page 64 procedure as follows:

1. Click *Next*. The following screen appears:

| 🧠 Enter a new notification job  |                      |
|---|----------------------|
| Backup Task Settings<br>Define the backup task settings for this notification job |                      |
| Selected backup tasks   |                      |
| L F37 Backup  |                      |
| $\square$ Only send notification when task fails                                  |                      |
|   | < Back Next > Cancel |

- 2. Select the backup task for which you want notifications and select the following option (optional):
  - Only send notification when task fails: You will then receive an e-mail only if a task fails. If you don't select this option, you always receive a notification (also when the task fails).
- 3. Click Next and enter the name of the notification.
- 4. Click on *Finish* to save the notification.

### 10.4.3 Making a notification of alarms

Continue the Setting notifications page 64 procedure as follows:

1. Click *Next*. The following screen appears:

| 🌆 Enter a new notification job  |  | - • •  |
|---|--|--------|
| Select Controller Type<br>Select the type of the controller   |  |        |
| Farm Structure         MyFam         MyFam         F92Y1 7.1         Chicken Wall         F37C1 37.1         F38H2 2.1         F40A1 40.1         F41281 50.1         F42281 52.1         F42281 52.1         F42281 52.1         F4281 42.1         F4281 52.1         F4281 55.1         F44281 56.1         F44281 57.1 | Selection:<br>MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F37C1 37.1 |        |
|   | < Back Next >                                | Cancel |

2. Select the controller or control unit for which you want notifications and click on *Next*. The following screen appears:

| 📭 Enter a new notification job  |               |        |
|---|---------------|--------|
| Alarm Settings<br>Define the alarm settings for this notification job |               |        |
|   |               |        |
|   |               |        |
| 🗆 🔍 Alarm Loud  |               |        |
| 🗆 🖲 Alarm Silent  |               |        |
| 🗆 🗞 Alarm Blocked   |               |        |
| 🗆 🌒 Alarm Cancelled   |               |        |
| 🗆 🕂 Alarm Standby   |               |        |
| 🗆 🎨 Alarm Temp. Off   |               |        |
|   |               |        |
|   |               |        |
|   |               |        |
|   |               |        |
|   |               |        |
|   |               |        |
|   | < Back Next > | Cancel |
|   |               |        |

- 3. Select one or more types of alarms for which you wish to receive notifications.
- 4. Click *Next* and enter the name of the notification.
- 5. Click on *Finish* to save the notification.

# 11. Creating and managing archives

An archive is a copy of your farm information in F-Central FarmManager. With an archive, you can record the entire situation in F-Central FarmManager at a given moment. You can compare current situations with historic situations in the archive. This gives you better insight into your information.

|   | Archives are not backups! In an archive, only the information from a certain date is saved, while a backup saves all information in a controller. For more information about making backups, see Backups "Creating and managing backups" page 73.   |
|---|---|
| Q | You create an archive at the end of a round. This way, after three rounds you have the archives from rounds 1, 2 and 3. Each archive contains a snapshot of F-Central FarmManager on the relevant round/dates. If you open the archive from round one, you can go through the information from that round. You can compare current graphs, for example, with archived graphs. |
|   | The Fancom Service Department may request that you make an archive. Fancom can use your archives to gain rapid insight into your farm situation and into the cause of any possible problems.  |

### 11.1 Creating an archive

Fancom recommends that you create archives with fixed regularity, for example at the end of a round. This way, you are certain that you can query older information.

An archive always contains the entire program database. In addition, you can archive a number of extra files. You create an archive as follows:

- 1. Go to Control units and select Archives.
- 2. Click on the *New archive* . The following screen appears:

| Adding Archive |  | ×   |
|----------------|--|-----|
|                | Identification                         |     |
|                | Identification                         |     |
|                | Name<br>Enter a name for this archive: |     |
| Identification | Include:                               |     |
|                | Include Sample Data                    |     |
|                | Include Overviews                      |     |
|                | Include Plus Data                      |     |
|                |  |     |
|                |  |     |
|                | < Back Next > Finish Cano              | :el |

- 3. Enter the name of the archive and select which information must be included in the archive.
  - Include Alarm Log: All alarms that have been notified (files that have already been exported and are in the database F-Central FarmManager).
  - Include Sample Data: Exported CSV files from samples (files that have already been exported and are in the database F-Central FarmManager).
  - Include Overviews: Overview files (files that are not yet included in the database F-Central FarmManager).
  - Include Plus Data: Own created Plus data (files that have already been exported and are in the database F-Central FarmManager).
- 4. Click the *Finish* button. The archive will be created. Archive files are saved on your computer's hard drive. By default, the program stores this file in the folder 'drive>\Data\Fancom\FarmManager\Archive', where <drive> is the workstation on whichF-Central FarmManager is installed.

| Operation i | in progress                    |                    |
|-------------|--------------------------------|--------------------|
| <b>S</b>    | Creating archive               |                    |
| Т           | The file name is created autom | atically. The name |

# 11.2 Opening and using archives



The archive which you would open must be created in the same versions of F-Central FarmManager. If you would like to open an archive which is created in a older version of F-Central FarmManager, you should convert the archive (See ArchiveConverter tool "Archive Converter Tool" page 90).

You can open only one archive at a time.

You open an archive as follows:

- 1. Go to Control units and select Archives.
- 2. Click on the Farm structure 2. The 'Farm structure' display appears.
- 3. Select a location for the archive you wish to open. If you select the highest level, you will see all the created archives in the work area.
- 4. In the work area, select the archive that you wish to open.


Q

An open archive is added in the 'Farm structure' and 'Device structure' displays and has the following features:

- The designation '\_[A]' denotes the archived controllers.

| ė 🏠 | 1-12_[A]        |   |
|-----|-----------------|---|
|     | 揭 F21B1 1.1_[A] |   |
|     | 🔏 F21B1 1.2_[A] |   |
|     | 🔏 F21B1 1.3_[A] |   |
|     | 揭 F21B1 1.4_[A] | I |



All the functions for consulting an archive are exactly the same as requesting the current information. You select archive files only in the 'Farm structure' or 'Device structure' displays.

You cannot change anything in an archive.

### 11.3 Import an archive

Archives made on another computer with F-Central FarmManager can be imported as follows:

1. Go to Control units and select Archives.

| 2. | Click on the Import archive | 20 |
|----|-----------------------------|----|

. The following screen appears:

| mport archive  |                                       |   | ×       |
|----------------|---------------------------------------|---|---------|
|                | Identification                        |   |         |
|                | Identification                        |   |         |
| Identification | Name<br>Type a name for this archive: |   |         |
|                | Type location and name of archiv      | file to be imported or choose file by bro | owsing. |
|                |                                       | В   | rowse   |
|                |                                       |   |         |
|                |                                       | Back Next > Finish                        | Cancel  |

- 3. Enter the name of the archive.
- 4. Click on the Browse button to search for the folder containing the archive file to be imported.
- 5. Click the *Finish* button. The archive will be imported.
- The imported archive file will be copied to the standard folder for archives on your hard drive: '<drive>\Data\Fancom\FarmManager\Archive', where <drive> is the workstation on which F-Central FarmManager is installed.

# 11.4 Closing archives

Once you're finished with looking at an archive you can close it. The associated information is no longer displayed in F-Central FarmManager, but is still available. You close an archive as follows:

- 1. Go to Control units and select Archives.
- 2. Select one of the control units from the opened the archive.

3. Click on the *Close archive* . The archive gets closed.

# 11.5 Removing archives



If you remove an archive, you can no longer requests the associated information in F-Central FarmManager.

If you no longer wish to make use of a certain archive, then you can remove it. You remove an archive as follows:

- 1. Go to Control units and select Archives.
- 2. Select the desired archive.



# 12. Creating and managing backups

Via F-Central FarmManager you can make a backup of the information in the controllers. With a backup, you can replace a copy of the old information from a controller on a controller. To create a simple backup, it is usually sufficient to have certain information from one controller or unit. You can do this back up without making use of the advanced possibilities (see Creating a simple backup task "Creating a schedule backup task" page 17). This chapter explains how you create advanced backup tasks.

| Q | You decide to change the information on your controller. After a few seconds, you discover that the changed information is not completely correct. Now you can put back the old information so that you can continue from the old situation. |
|---|--|
|   | Fancom recommends always setting up backup tasks. This way, you are certain that backups will be made, even if you don't take the initiative for this yourself.  |
|   | Always set the starting time for creating a backup at a moment when few actions are being performed in the stall - for example, outside feeding times.   |

# 12.1 Creating an advanced backup task

When creating backup tasks, you can also choose advanced settings. With these advanced settings, you can select sources and control units. You can use this possibility, for example, if you want to use a number of controllers or control units of a specific type, but not all of them.

#### Open the backup task wizard

You can get to the advanced settings via the backup task wizard. You open this wizard as follows:

1. Go to *Tasks* and select *Backups*.

| Backup Task Wizard           |   |                                     |             |               |   |
|------------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|-------------|---------------|---|
| Controller / Control<br>Unit | Schedule                                |                                     |             |               |   |
|                              | Interval<br>Days:<br>Hours:<br>Minutes: | 7 <br> 0<br> 0                      | 4<br>4<br>4 |               |   |
|                              | Start                                   | <ul> <li>Start date/time</li> </ul> | 6/22/2012   | ▼ 5:30:00 AM  | ÷ |
| Schedule                     | - Stop                                  |                                     | ,           |               |   |
|                              | Unlimited                               | C End time:                         | 6/22/2012   | ▼ 10:35:43 AM | ÷ |
|                              |   |                                     |             |               |   |
| Identification               |   |                                     |             |               |   |

3. Click on the Advanced button. You can set the advanced backup task settings here.



### 12.1.2 Select controllers and control units

You select the advanced sources and control units as follows:

- 1. Open the back up task wizard and choose Advanced to open the advanced settings.
- 2. Select the controller for which you wish to make a backup and click Next. The following screen appears:

| Backup Task Wizard |   | <b>—</b> ×           |
|--------------------|---|----------------------|
| Controller type    | Controller  |                      |
|                    | One specified controller                          | WebLinkBox F21B1 1   |
| Controller         | C Several specified Controllers                   | Route Name Number    |
| Control Unit       |   |                      |
| Schedule           | C All Controllers of a specified type and version |                      |
| Identification     |   |                      |
| << Advanced        | < Back  | Next > Finish Cancel |

- 3. Select the desired controller(s):
  - One specified controller: select one controller from the drop-down list.
  - Several specified controllers: select one or more controllers from the list.
  - All controllers of a specified type and version: all controllers are selected.
- 4. Click *Next*. The following screen appears:

| Backup Task Wizard |                                   | ×    |
|--------------------|-----------------------------------|------|
| Controller type    | Control Unit                      |      |
|                    | One specified control Unit        |      |
| Controller         | C Several specified Control Units |      |
|                    |                                   |      |
| Control Unit       |                                   |      |
|                    |                                   |      |
| Schedule           |                                   |      |
|                    |                                   |      |
| Identification     |                                   |      |
| << Advanced        | < Back Next > Finish Car          | ncel |

- 5. Select the desired control units:
  - One specified control unit: select one control unit from the drop-down list.
  - Several specified control units: select one or more control units from the list.
- 6. Click *Next*. Enter the schedule.
- 7. Click *Next*. Enter the title of the backup.
- 8. Click *Finish*. The backup task is stored.

# 12.2 Viewing backup tasks

For each backup task, you can view information via the menu *Tasks – Backups*. Via the displays 'Farm structure' or 'Device structure', you determine which tasks are displayed. Select 'My farm' to view all backup tasks. In the work area, you see the following components:



- 1. Overview of the backup tasks created for each form component with the general information for each backup task.
- 2. Details of the selected backup task.
- 3. Schedule settings for the selected backup task.

#### 12.2.1 View summary of the backup tasks created

For each backup task, the following information is shown:

| Title      | Creation time     | Task type | Status  | Archive |
|------------|-------------------|-----------|---------|---------|
| F37 Backup | 4/18/2012 2:01 PM | Automatic | Started | No      |
| test       | 6/12/2012 2:13 PM | Automatic | Started | No      |

- *Title*: the name of the backup task.
- Creation time: the date and the moment at which the backup task was made.
- Task type: the type of backup task.
  - Automatic: the backup task will be executed with a fixed regularity.
  - Manual: you must perform the backup task yourself.
- Status: the current status of the backup tasks.
  - Not yet started: the backup task is not yet started.
  - Started: the backup task has started.
  - *Ready*: no more samples are being taken.
- Archive: export or the backup is coming from an archive (Yes/No).

### 12.2.2 View the details of the selected backup task

If you select a backup task, the details of this backup task appear at the lower left of the screen. In the Source column, you see the controller from which the backup information has come.

| Details    |  |
|------------|--|
| Source     |  |
| F37C1 37.1 |  |
|            |  |

### 12.2.3 View settings for the selected backup task

If you select a backup task, the schedule settings for this backup task appear at the lower right of the screen.

| Start Start time: | 4/18/2012 5:30 AM |
|-------------------|-------------------|
| End time:         | No stop           |
| _ Interval        |                   |
| Days              | 1                 |
| Hours             | 0                 |
| Minutes           | 0                 |
|                   |                   |

# 12.3 View the history of the selected backup task

The history is saved for each backup task. You can request the history of a backup task as follows:

- 1. Select a backup task.
- 2. Click the *Backup task information b*. The following screen appears with the history:

# 12.4 Changing backup tasks

You change a backup task as follows:

- 1. Go to Tasks and select Backups.
- 2. Select the desired backup task.

|    |                        | ×.           |                                 |
|----|------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------|
| 3. | Click on the Edit task | $\checkmark$ | The backup task wizard appears: |

| Backup Task Wizard           |  |                                  |  | ×      |
|------------------------------|--|----------------------------------|--|--------|
| Controller / Control<br>Unit | Controller / Control Unit   Schedu   | ule   Identification<br>rol Unit | on ]   |        |
| Schedule                     | Farm Structure WyFarm New Section F92Y1 7.1 Chicken Wall F35C1 35.1 F37C1 37.1 F41281 50.1 F41281 50.1 F41281 50.1 F41281 50.1 F41281 51.1 F42281 52.1 F42281 52.1 F42281 53.1 F44291 56.1 F44291 56.1 F42281 53.1 F44291 56.1 |                                  | Selection:<br>MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F37C1 37.1 |        |
| Identification               | E442B1 56.1  | Ŧ                                |  |        |
| Advanced >>                  |  | < Back                           | Next > Finish                                | Cancel |

- 4. Change the data.
- 5. Click on *Finish* to save the changes.

# 12.5 Starting a manual backup task

You start the backup task manually as follows

- 1. Go to Tasks and select Backups.
- 2. Select the desired backup task.
- 3. Click on the *Backup immediately* and enter a desired name. The program performs the backup task. Once the backup task is finished, the next screen appears:

| F-Central FarmManager |
|-----------------------|
| Backup                |
| Status: Finished      |
|                       |
|                       |
| ОК                    |

# 12.6 Restore backups

| It is important to choose the moment of restoring a backup carefully. Any tasks that are being executed by the relevant control unit will be immediately aborted by the replacement of the backup. This may disturb farm processes. After restoring the backup, the relevant control unit will be restarted. Starting with that moment, the replaced information applies. |
|---|
| The restore of a backup is a serious measure that should only be performed by qualified employees.  |
| By restoring a backup, the current information from a controller or control unit will be overwritten by information from the backup.  |
| It is only possible to restore a backup by department.  |

You replace a backup as follows:

...

1. Go to Tasks and select Backups.

| Controller / Control<br>Unit | Controller / Control Unit | Selection:<br>No selection |  |
|------------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------|--|
| Backup                       |                           |                            |  |

. .. .

ER

- 3. Select the controller or control unit for which you want to replace the backup and click on Next.
- 4. Click on the Search file button to search for the folder containing the backup file. Then click Open.
- 5. Click the *Finish* button. The following screen appears:

| F-Central FarmManager |  |  |  |
|-----------------------|--|--|--|
| ?                     | Your control unit data is being overwritten by the backup!!!<br>Do you want to continue? |  |  |
|                       | OK Cancel  |  |  |

6. With the OK button, confirm that you want to replace the backup. The backup will be replaced.

# 12.7 Supporting tasks



Be careful when removing backup tasks!

If you no longer wish to make use of a given backup task, then you can remove it. You remove a backup task as follows:

- 1. Go to *Tasks* and select *Backups*.
- 2. Select the desired backup task.
- 3. Click the *Delete* X.

# 13. Viewing alarms

In F-Central FarmManager, you can view current alarms and the alarm log. When alarms occur, they are displayed in a alarm screen which is always visible. Every alarm is saved in a log.

### 13.1 Viewing current alarms

When alarms occur, they are displayed in the *Alarms* screen. This screen is always visible and is at the lower left of the screen:

| Alarms |             |                            |              |            | * * |
|--------|-------------|----------------------------|--------------|------------|-----|
| Alarm  | Description | Location in Farm Structure | Control Unit | Time stamp |     |

In the summary you see the following information about a current alarm;

- Alarm: current status of the alarm.
- Description: explanation of the alarm.
- Location in farm structure: the location of the alarm in the 'Farm structure' display.
- Control unit: name of the control unit within which the alarm occurs.
- Time: start time of the alarm.



### 13.2 Viewing the alarm log

Every alarm is saved in a log. You can query the log of alarm as follows:

- 1. Go to Alarms and select Log.
- Select a controller or control unit whose log you wish to view. The logbook that shows in the work area is dependent on where you are in the 'Farm structure' or 'Device structure' display: The log information appears in the work area:

| Farm Structure | Time stamp          | Location in Farm Structure | Control Unit | Description | Old status | New status |
|----------------|---------------------|----------------------------|--------------|-------------|------------|------------|
| 🖃 🏠 MyFarm     | 23-05-2012 08:13:07 | MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F4     | F442B1 56.1  | Hen101 GEE  | Standby    | Silent     |
| New Section    | 23-05-2012 08:13:05 | MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F4     | F442B1 57.1  | Hen101 GEE  | Standby    | Silent     |
| E92Y1 7 1      | 22-05-2012 13:56:05 | MyFarm\F92Y1 7.1           | F92Y1 7.1    | ALARM UIT   | Blocked    | Loud       |
|                | 22-05-2012 13:56:03 | MyFarm\F92Y1 7.1           | F92Y1 7.1    | ALARM UIT   | Loud       | Blocked    |
|                | 22-05-2012 13:55:29 | MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F4     | F442B1 56.1  |             | Silent     | Standby    |
| New Camera 1   | 22-05-2012 13:55:28 | MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F4     | F442B1 57.1  |             | Silent     | Standby    |
| F35C1 35.1     | 22-05-2012 13:54:43 | MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F4     | F442B1 56.1  | Hen101 GEE  | Loud       | Silent     |
| - F37C1 37.1   | 22-05-2012 13:54:42 | MyFarm\Chicken Wall\F4     | F442B1 57.1  | Hen101 GEE  | Loud       | Silent     |

- *Time stamp*: the moment at which the alarm sounded.
- Location in Farm Structure: of the location of the alarm in the 'Farm structure' display.
- Control unit: the control unit on which the alarm was sounded.
- Description: explanation of the alarm.
- Old status: the most recent status of the alarm before the alarm was raised or before the alarm status was changed.
- New status: the new status of the alarm



Every time the status of an alarm changes, this is added to the history. Regardless of the type of change.

# 14. Extra options

# 14.1 Making a Service Information File

If you have a problem with F-Central FarmManager, your distributor or Fancom may ask you to create a 'Service Information File'. This is a file with information about your controller, so that they can try to solve the problem. You create a 'Service Informatie File' as follows:

- 1. Select the controller whose information you want to save.
- 2. In the menu bar, go to Actions and select Create a Service Information File. The following screen appears:

| Service information   | <b>—</b>  |
|-----------------------|-----------|
| Choose controller     |           |
| Include               |           |
| 🔽 Backup Files        | 0         |
| CSV Files             |           |
| 🗖 Menu Structure File | 0         |
| 🔲 graph tables        | 0         |
| 🗖 Graph bitmaps       |           |
|                       |           |
|                       | OK Cancel |

- 3. Select one or more files to include in the file.
- 4. Click OK. The program now collects all the selected information.
- 5. Enter the name for the file and save the file.

# 14.2 Copy pages and indices

If you update settings on a FSU or 700 control unit, you can copy these settings to other pages of the same FSU or 700 control unit. You can copy a page or an index as follows:

#### Copy pages to other control unit

- 1. Go to Control Units and select Operations.
- 2. Select the page of the control unit which has been updated.
- 3. Click on the *Copy Page to control unit* button <sup>1</sup>. The following screen appears:

| 🚱 Copy page to Contro | Units                              |
|-----------------------|------------------------------------|
| Control Unit info     |                                    |
| Control Unit          | MyFarm\Varkens stal 3\Afdeling 31' |
| Controller Type       | FSU8B2                             |
| Copy to               |                                    |
| Control Unit          | <u> </u>                           |
| MyFarm\Varkens st     | al 3\Afdeling 32\FSU8B2 2.2        |
| MyFarm\Varkens st     | al 3\Afdeling 33\FSU8B2 2.3        |
| MyFarm\Varkens st     | al 3\Afdeling 34\FSU8B2 2.4        |
| MyFarm\Varkens st     | al 3/Afdeling 36/FSU8B2 2.6        |
| MyFarm\Varkens st     | al 3\Afdeling 37\FSU8B2 2.7        |
| •                     | 4                                  |
|                       |                                    |
|                       |                                    |
|                       | OK Cancel                          |
|                       |                                    |

- 4. Select the control unit(s) to which you want to copy the current page.
- 5. Click on OK. The settings will now be copied.

#### Copy index to control unit

- 1. Go to Control Units and select Operations.
- 2. Select the index of the control unit which has been updated.
- 3. Click on the *Copy index to control unit* button . The following screen appears:

| Copy page to index  | ×                                  |  |
|---|------------------------------------|--|
| Control Unit info   |                                    |  |
| Control Unit  | MyFarm\Varkens stal 3\Afdeling 31' |  |
| Controller Type   | FSU8B2                             |  |
| Index info  |                                    |  |
| Current Index:  | 1                                  |  |
| Max index:  | 2                                  |  |
| Copy to   | 2                                  |  |
| Enter index numbers and / or index ranges separated by commas. For example: 2, 4, 6-9 |                                    |  |
|   | OK Cancel                          |  |

- 4. Enter the index to which you want to copy the current index.
- 5. Click on OK. The settings will now be copied.

# 14.3 Data sharing

Setting Data sharing may only be performed by specialists. For this, contact your distributor or Fancom.

With Data sharing, values from a controller can be read into another controller. You approach Data sharing via *Tasks* - *Data sharing*.

# 15. Supporting programs

During the installation of F-Central FarmManager, seven supporting programs are installed. Most of these programs are intended to solve any problems that might occur. If you have a problem with F-Central FarmManager, your distributor or Fancom may ask you to use one of these programs. The following programs get installed:

- Service Monitor
- Analysis Tool
- Archive Converter Tool
- Archive Recovery Tool
- Communication Tool
- Text File Manager
- Farm Sketcher (not for problem support, for more information see the Farm Sketcher manual)

After the installation of F-Central FarmManager, you can open the programs via <u>Start – Programs – Fancom -</u> FarmManager.

# 15.1 Service Monitor

The Service Monitor program provides an overview of the current status of all F-Central FarmManager services. As soon as a service is not functioning, this program issues a warning. All services are then also restarted in the proper sequence.



The F-Central FarmManager services start automatically when you turn your computer on. The Service Monitor program only starts up once you are logged in on your computer.

After the installation of F-Central FarmManager, the Farm Manager Service Monitor appears 🋂 in your task bar.

#### Viewing current statuses

- 1. Right mouse click on Farm Manager Service Monitor 🌄 .
- 2. Select *Restore*. The following screen appears:

| J Farm<br>⊢Servie | n Manager Service Monitor  |   |
|-------------------|--|---|
| 0                 | Event Service  |   |
|                   | FCHost   |   |
| 0                 | Control Manager Service  |   |
| 0                 | Notification Manager Service   |   |
| 0                 | WCF FCHost Service   |   |
| 0                 | Device Service   |   |
| 0                 | Job Service  |   |
| 0                 | Event Bridge Service   |   |
| - Histor          | ry<br>New history<br>Watch history                                   |   |
|                   | If a service is not functioning properly, the <i>Fari</i> changes to | <i>rm Manager Service Monitor</i> icon 🌆 in your task |

The Service Monitor program monitors the current statuses of the services once every minute.

### **Viewing history**

 $\mathbf{P}$ 

The Service Monitor maintains a log of all status changes to the services. You request this logbook as follows:

- 1. Right mouse click on Farm Manager Service Monitor
- 2. Select Restore.
- 3. Click the Watch history button. The following screen appears:

| Ever | nts              | ×   |
|------|------------------|---|
|      |                  |   |
|      | Time             | Reason  |
|      | 21-6-2012 : 8:07 | Restart all services, reason: The Event Service stopped unexpectedly-Product name: Farm Manager Ser |
| -    | Show events from | the last time the events were checked.  |

# 15.2 Analysis Tool

With the Analysis Tool program, you can easily collect data from the computer on which F-Central FarmManager is installed. You can also import and analyse collected data.

#### **Data collection**

You collect data as follows:

1. Start the Analysis Tool program. The following screen appears:

| 💆 Collect data tool 🛛 🗖 🔳 💌   |
|---|
| File Tools  |
| <ul> <li>Include log data</li> <li>Include system info</li> <li>Include processes info</li> </ul> |
| Collect data Cancel   |

- 2. Choose which data you wish to collect:
  - Include log data: Windows log files.
  - Include system info: System and hardware information from your computer.
  - Include processes info: Process overview of your computer (Task Manager).
- 3. Click the Collect data button.
- 4. Enter the name of the file and click Save. The program now collects the selected data.

#### Importing and analysing data

You import the data as follows:

- 1. Start the Analysis Tool program.
- 2. Go to Tools and select Analyse data tool. The following screen appears:

| 🧧 Anal | lyse data tool 👘 💼 💌 |
|--------|----------------------|
| File   | Tools                |
|        |                      |
|        | Load analyse file    |
| Creat  | ion Time:            |
|        | Show licence data    |
|        | Show log data        |
|        | Show system info     |
|        | Show processes info  |
|        | Close                |
|        |                      |

- 3. Click on the Load analysis file button and select the file you wish to import.
- 4. Click the *Open* button. The program now imports the selected file. Once the import has finished, the following appears on the screen:

| 🛄 Analy | /se data tool 🛛 🗖 🔳 🗾 |
|---------|-----------------------|
| File    | Tools                 |
| Creatio | Load analyse file     |
|         | Show licence data     |
|         | Show log data         |
|         | Show system info      |
|         | Show processes info   |
|         | Close                 |
| Ready   |                       |

- 5. Click on the desired button to analyse the data:
  - Show license data: information about the F-Central FarmManager license.
  - Show log data: information about Windows.
  - Show system info: information about the computer.
  - Show processes info: information about the active processes on the computer.

# **15.3 Archive Converter Tool**

With the Archive Converter Tool, you can convert an old archive to a newer version. You convert an archive as follows:

1. Start the Archive Converter Tool program. The following screen appears:

| 😼 Archive conver  | ter          | - • • |
|-------------------|--------------|-------|
| original archive  |              |       |
| converted archive |              |       |
| action            | 4.01 to 4.02 | •     |
| Convert           |              |       |

- 2. Click the button behind the *Original archive* field and select the archive file to be converted.
- 3. Click Open.
- 4. Click the button behind the *Converted archive* field and enter the name of the new conversion file to be created.
- 5. Click Save.
- 6. Select the method of conversion behind the *Action* field. The first number mentioned is the version number of the old archive. The second number is the version number of the new archive.



You can search for the version number of the old archive in the folder

'<drive>\Data\Fancom\FarmManager\Archive', where <drive> is the workstation on which F-Central FarmManager is installed. This map contains a zip file (archive) which contains the 'Info' folder. This map contains a .fai file in which the version number is mentioned.

# 15.4 Archive Recovery Tool



Be careful with the Archive Recovery Tool! If you overwrite all the current data, you can no longer recover this.

With the Archive Recovery Tool, you can overwrite all the current data in F-Central FarmManager with data from an archive file. You overwrite the current data as follows:

1. Start the Archive Recovery Tool program. The following screen appears:

| Archive recovery                     | <b>X</b>       |
|--------------------------------------|----------------|
| Choose Archive                       |                |
| Demo                                 | Cancel Recover |
| Choose demo archive\DemoChickens.zip |                |
|                                      |                |

- 2. Click the button behind the *Choose archive* field and select the archive file that you wish to import.
- 3. Click Open.
- 4. Click on the *Recover* button to overwrite the current data with data from the archive file.



If there are demo archive files in the same folder as this program, then under *Choose demo archive* you will see the archive files that it is possible to import.

Select *Demo* If you only want to use a F-Central FarmManager archive for demo purposes.



The Archive Recovery Tool is Useful for moving all F-Central FarmManager data to another computer with F-Central FarmManager - e.g. after a computer crash.

# 15.5 Communication Tool



Don't start the Communication Tool for simply any reason! The program generates a significant amount of data for which you must first set parameters.

With the Communication Tool program, you can view all communication from F-Central FarmManager.

| 🜏 Com                  | nunica              | ionTool                |                          |                |                    |            |          |          |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         | - 0      |     | × |
|------------------------|---------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|----------------|--------------------|------------|----------|----------|-----------|---------|---------|---------|----------|----------|---------|---------|--------|---------|---------|---------|---------|----------|-----|---|
| File                   | Data                | Edit                   | Settings                 | FAC            | P logging          |            |          |          |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
| All Data               | Incom               | ng Data                | Outgoing                 | Data           | DS Logging         | Results    |          |          |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
| [11:46:43              | 3:274] S            | nchrono                |                          | nmand          | (134690) suc       | ceeded in  | F78A1    | 78       |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         |          |     | ^ |
| (out)-[11:             | 46:43:2             | 39] (Web               | LinkBox) 3E              | 00 23          | 0E 02 00 42        | 80 00 00   | 01 81 1  | 16 00 64 | 4 00 02 0 | 00 00 5 | 51 00 0 | 0 00 0  | 1 42 02  | 2 00 00  | 00 00   | 00 00 0 | 0 00 0 | 0 00 00 | 00 00 0 | 0 01 01 | 14 33 8 | 80 ED 01 | 00  |   |
| (in)-[11:4             | 00 01 F<br>6:43:39( | F 00 00 (<br>] (WebLi  | 00 00 01 00<br>nkBox) 1F | 02 CE<br>00 23 | :<br>DE 02 00 00 ( | O AC CE    | 01 00 0  | D 00 51  | 1 00 00 0 | 00 01 8 | 80 OB 3 | 32 01 E | ED 01 2  | 20 01 00 | ) FA 02 | 2 C8    |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
| [11:46:43              | 3:414] S            | nchrono                | usSendCon                | nmand          | (134691) suc       | ceeded in  | F21B1    | 1        |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
| (out)-[11:             | 46:43:4             | 45] (Web               | LinkBox) 3E              | 00 24          | 0E 02 00 42        | 80 00 00   | 28 81 1  | 6 00 64  | 4 00 02 0 | 00 00 5 | 51 00 0 | 0 00 0  | 1 42 02  | 2 00 00  | 00 00   | 00 00 0 | 0 00 0 | 0 00 00 | 00 00 0 | 0 01 28 | 14 33 8 | 30 D5 01 | 00  |   |
| 02 00 14<br>(in)-[11:4 | 00 01 F<br>6:43:44  | F 00 00 (<br>51 (WebLi | 00 00 01 00<br>nkBox) 1F | 02 DE<br>00 24 | )<br>DE 02 00 00 ( | 0 55 9B 0  | 01 00 00 | D 00 51  | 00 00 0   | 00 01 8 | 30 OB 3 | 2 28 D  | )5 02 A  | 0 01 00  | FA 03   | 58      |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
| [11:46:43              | 3:445] S            | nchrono                | usSendCon                | nmand          | (134692) suc       | ceeded in  | F40A1    | 40       |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
| (out)-[11:             | 46:43:4             | 51] (Web               | LinkBox) 3E              | 00 25          | 0E 02 00 42        | 80 00 00   | 38 82 1  | 6 00 64  | 4 00 02 0 | 00 00 5 | 51 00 0 | 0 00 00 | 1 42 02  | 2 00 00  | 00 00   | 00 00 0 | 0 00 0 | 0 00 00 | 00 00 0 | 0 01 39 | 14 33 8 | 30 BC 01 | 00  |   |
| 02 00 14<br>(in)-[11:4 | 00 01 F<br>6:43:47( | F 00 00 0<br>[] (WebLi | 00 00 01 00<br>nkBox) 1F | 02 D5<br>00 25 | )<br>DE 02 00 00 ( | IO 56 9B 0 | 01 00 00 | D 00 51  | 00 00 0   | 00 01 8 | 30 OB 3 | 2 39 B  | IC 01 20 | 0 01 00  | FA 02   | CF      |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
| [11:46:43              | 3:476] S            | nchrono                | usSendCon                | nmand          | (134693) suc       | ceeded in  | F442B    | 1 57     |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
| (out)-[11:             | 46:43:4             | 02] (Web               | LinkBox) 3E              | 00 26          | 0E 02 00 42        | 80 00 00   | 38 81 1  | 6 00 64  | 4 00 02 0 | 00 00 5 | 51 00 0 | 0 00 0  | 1 42 02  | 2 00 00  | 00 00   | 00 00 0 | 0 00 0 | 0 00 00 | 00 00 0 | 0 01 38 | 14 33 8 | 30 C7 01 | 00  |   |
| 02 00 14<br>(in)-[11:4 | 00 01 F<br>6:43:50  | F 00 00 (<br>3] (WebLi | 00 00 01 00<br>nkBox) 1F | 02 DF<br>00 26 | DE 02 00 00 (      | 0 57 9B 0  | 01 00 00 | D 00 51  | 00 00 0   | 00 01 8 | 30 OB 3 | 2 38 C  | 7 01 20  | 0 01 00  | FA 02   | D9      |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
| [11:46:43              | 3:508] S            | nchrono                |                          | nmand          | (134694) suc       | ceeded in  | F442B    | 1 56     |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
| (out)-[11:             | 46:43:5             | 08] (Web               | LinkBox) 3E              | 00 27          | 0E 02 00 42        | 80 00 00   | 79 81 1  | 6 00 64  | 4 00 02 0 | 00 00 5 | 51 00 0 | 0 00 00 | 1 42 02  | 2 00 00  | 00 00   | 00 00 0 | 0 00 0 | 0 00 00 | 00 00 0 | 0 01 36 | 14 33 8 | 30 B2 01 | 00  |   |
| 02 00 14               | 00 01 F             | F 00 00 0              | 00 00 01 00              | 02 C8          |                    |            |          |          |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         |          |     | ÷ |
| ļ                      |                     |                        |                          |                |                    |            |          |          |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         |          |     |   |
|                        |                     |                        |                          |                |                    |            |          |          |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         | _        |     | _ |
|                        |                     |                        |                          |                |                    |            |          |          |           |         |         |         |          |          |         |         |        |         |         |         |         | Clo      | ose |   |

The program's start screen consists of the following tabs:

- All Data: overview of all incoming and outgoing communication.
- Incoming Data: overview of all incoming communication (from WebLinkBox to F-Central FarmManager).
- Outgoing Data: overview of all outgoing communication (from F-Central FarmManager to WebLinkBox).
- DS Logging: extended display of incoming and outgoing communication.
- Results: summary of the communication. The number of sent messages (sent), the number of messages which
  received no reply (failed), the number of messages sent twice (resent) and the number of messages correctly
  answered (successful).

#### Setting the maximum number of communication lines

When the Communication Tool program is started, a lot of data is generated. To limit this amount, you can set a maximum number of lines:

- 1. Start the Communication Tool program.
- 2. In the menu bar, click on Settings and select:
  - Maximum Outgoing Data messages: maximum number of lines for the Outgoing Data tab.
  - Maximum Incoming Data messages: maximum number of lines for the Incoming Data tab.
  - Maximum Debug logging messages: maximum number of lines for the DS Logging tab.
  - Maximum All Data messages: maximum number of lines for the All Data tab.
- 3. Enter the maximum number for the selected option.



If you enter a maximum of 2000 lines, this means that all lines after 2000 lines will be erased.

#### Assigning color to communication

In the program, you can assign colors to incoming and outgoing communication. This allows you to distinguish the type of communication in the summaries. You set the colors as follows:

- 1. Start the Communication Tool program.
- 2. In the menu bar, click on Settings and select:
  - Outgoing Data Color: color for outgoing communication.
  - Incoming Data Color: color for incoming communication.
  - Debug Logging Color: color for notifications.
- 3. Select the desired color using the color palette.

| Color                   | × |
|-------------------------|---|
| Basic colors:           |   |
|                         |   |
|                         |   |
|                         |   |
|                         |   |
|                         |   |
|                         |   |
| Custom colors:          |   |
|                         |   |
|                         |   |
| Define Custom Colors >> |   |
| OK Cancel               |   |

#### **Erasing communication lines**

After a certain amount of time, you can erase all the communication lines in order to start than with new communication lines. You erase all communication lines and all tabs as follows:

- 1. Start the Communication Tool program.
- 2. In the menu bar, click on *Edit* and select *Clear Pane*.

# 15.6 Text File Manager

You can update your controllers with the Text File Manager. For example, if you switch to a newer version of your controller, you must use this program to update the database. You can update your controller as follows:

1. Start the Text File Manager program. The screen appears with the controllers present:

| 🚡 TextFile Manager |                   |                        |
|--------------------|-------------------|------------------------|
| File Tools Help    |                   |                        |
| Name               | Version           | Language               |
| F78A1              | A1.1              | en                     |
| F21B1              | B1.2              | en                     |
| F42B1              | B1.2              | en                     |
| F41B1              | B1.2              | en                     |
| F92Y1              | Y1.0              | en                     |
| F412B1             | B1.4              | en                     |
| F35C1              | C1.0              | en                     |
| F37C1              | C1.2              | en                     |
| F422B1             | B1.2              | en                     |
| F38H2              | H2.0              | en                     |
| F44A1              | A1.0              | en                     |
| F442B1             | B1.0              | en                     |
| F40A1              | A1.4              | en                     |
| F47B1              | B1.4              | NL                     |
|                    |                   |                        |
|                    |                   |                        |
|                    |                   |                        |
|                    |                   |                        |
|                    |                   |                        |
|                    | Update Definition | Delete Definition Quit |
|                    |                   |                        |

2. Select the type of controller that you wish to update and click the *Update Definition* button. The following screen appears:

| TextFile Manager  |
|---|
| Please choose   |
| Opdate complete TextFile  |
| <ul> <li>Update Script, Texts and Icons (F2000 only)</li> </ul> |
| ✓ Texts   |
| ✓ Icons   |
| ✓ Script  |
| Choose textfile   |
| Filename  |
|   |
|   |
|   |
| Ok Cancel   |

- 3. Behind the *Choose text file* field, click on the button and select the new text file.
- 4. Click Open.
- 5. Click *OK* to update the controller.



After updating a type of controller, all controllers of that type change automatically. The name of the controller does not change automatically. For more information about changing the name, see Adding controllers page 10).

∕

### Removing the text file of a controller

Fancom recommends first removing a controller via F-Central FarmManager and only after that using the Text File Manager program.

You remove the text file of a controller as follows:

- 1. Start the Text File Manager program.
- 2. Select the controller you wish to remove and click the *Delete Definition* button.
- 3. Click OK to remove the text file.

# 16. Index

# Α

| Δlarm                        |
|------------------------------|
| Adding history to an archive |
| Current overview82           |
| Log82                        |
| Notification68               |
| Status                       |
| Analysis Tool                |
| Alarm history                |
| Overviews                    |
| Plus-info69                  |
| Sample information           |
| Closing72                    |
| Creating69                   |
| Importing71                  |
| Opening70                    |
| Removing72                   |
| Archive Converter Tool       |

# С

| Changing cameras' properties16 |
|--------------------------------|
| Linking cameras16              |
| Changing                       |
| Adding automatically1          |
| Adding manually1               |
| Changing properties1           |
| Deactivating12                 |
| Operation22                    |
| Removing12                     |
| Create a device structure      |

| CSV files<br>Graph | definition    | . 54 |
|--------------------|---------------|------|
| Sampl              | le definition | . 54 |

# Е

| E-mail notification<br>Adjusting settings |    |
|---|----|
| Recipients                                | 64 |
| Server settings                           | 63 |
| Time schedules                            | 64 |
| Contents                                  |    |
| Alarms                                    | 68 |
| Backup tasks                              | 67 |
| Sample tasks                              | 66 |
| Creating                                  | 63 |
| Opening the wizard                        | 65 |
| Exporting<br>Graph definition             | 54 |
| Sample definition                         | 54 |
| Exporting a sample definition             | 54 |

### F

| Farm section                       |    |
|------------------------------------|----|
| Adding                             | 14 |
| Adding a start screen              | 15 |
| Current overview                   | 25 |
| Farm-specific overview             | 26 |
| Overview in table form             | 26 |
| Removing                           | 15 |
| Sorting                            | 14 |
| Summary as a curve                 | 26 |
| Summary as a graphic stall display | 26 |
| F-Central FarmManager<br>Close     | 7  |
| Column layout                      | 6  |
| Full screen                        | 7  |
| Print                              | 7  |
| Screen layout                      | 5  |
| Status                             | 7  |

| Formula                      |
|------------------------------|
| G                            |
| Graph                        |
| Combining52                  |
| Comparing52                  |
| Create a simple graph27      |
| Creating an advanced graph42 |
| Data                         |
| Hiding data50                |
| Highlighting                 |
| Viewing                      |
| Dragging52                   |
| Exporting54                  |
| Full screen52                |
| Importing54                  |
| Layout46                     |
| Legend 46                    |
| Hiding                       |
| Layout                       |
| Opening46                    |
| Operation4                   |
| Primary and secondary axis4  |
| Removing55                   |
| Save as image53              |
| Saving                       |
| Viewing4                     |
| X-axis4                      |
| Y-axis                       |
| Zooming in and zooming out5  |
| Graph definition54           |
| н                            |

| History<br>Backup task |  |
|------------------------|--|
| Sample information     |  |

# 

| lm  | porting<br>Archive   | 71 |
|-----|----------------------|----|
|     | Graph                | 54 |
|     | Sample information   | 54 |
| Int | erval<br>Backup task | 17 |
|     | Notification         | 64 |
|     | Sample task          | 18 |

# L

| Legend                                     |
|--|
| Layout 46                                  |
| X-axis                                     |
| Y-axis                                     |
| Logging in<br>Changing                     |
| Creating a simple sample backup task1      |
| Creating an advanced backup task73         |
| Select control computers and control units |
| Notification67                             |
| Opening76                                  |
| Opening the wizard73                       |
| Overview                                   |
| Replacing                                  |
| Schedule 17                                |
| Starting manually79                        |
| Viewing                                    |
| Logging out                                |
| 0  |
|  |

| Oper<br>E | ration<br>Browsing | 24 |
|-----------|--------------------|----|
| С         | Changing values    | 23 |
| C         | Control computer   | 22 |

|    | Entering values                           | 23 |
|----|---|----|
|    | Graph                                     | 49 |
|    | Navigating through the various levels     | 26 |
|    | Shortcuts                                 | 24 |
| Ov | verview<br>Adding to an archive           | 69 |
|    | Backup tasks                              | 76 |
|    | Current alarm summary                     | 82 |
|    | Current farm structure                    | 25 |
|    | Farm section as a curve                   | 26 |
|    | Farm section as a graphical stall display | 26 |
|    | Farm section farm-specific                | 26 |
|    | Farm section in table form                | 26 |
|    | Sample tasks                              | 36 |

# Ρ

Personal data Adding

| Formula59              |
|------------------------|
| Process information60  |
| Simple data59          |
| Creating57             |
| Removing62             |
| Sorting61              |
| Viewing61              |
| Plus data<br>Adding    |
| Formula59              |
| Process information60  |
| Simple data59          |
| Adding to an archive69 |
| Changing62             |
| Creating57             |
| Removing62             |
| Selecting57            |

Sorting......61

|  | r | ۰. |   | 6 | 1 |
|--|---|----|---|---|---|
|  |   | L  | u |   |   |
|  |   |    |   |   |   |

| Viewing                      | 61      |
|------------------------------|---------|
| Plus key<br>Changing         | 61      |
| Creating                     | 57      |
| Removing                     | 62      |
| Sorting                      | 61      |
| Print<br>Process information | 7<br>60 |
| R                            |         |

| Ro | ute<br>Adding a route | 8 |
|----|-----------------------|---|
|    | Adding automatically  | 8 |
|    | Changing properties   | 8 |
|    | Removing1             | 2 |
|    | Simulated adding      | 8 |

### S

| Sa | mple information                  | 60 |
|----|-----------------------------------|----|
|    | Adding to an archive              | 09 |
|    | Changing a name                   | 41 |
|    | Exporting                         | 34 |
| Sa | mple task<br>Changing             | 39 |
|    | Creating a simple sample task     | 18 |
|    | Creating an advanced sample task  | 29 |
| Ex | port sample data                  | 34 |
| Se | lect multiple sequential numbers. | 32 |
| Se | lect sources and control units    | 31 |
|    | History                           | 38 |
|    | Notification                      | 66 |
|    | Opening the wizard                | 29 |
|    | Overview                          | 36 |
|    | Removing                          | 41 |
|    | Schedule                          | 18 |
|    | Starting manually                 | 40 |
|    | Viewing                           | 35 |
| Se | rvice information file            | 83 |

| Service monitor        | 86 |
|------------------------|----|
| Analysis Tool          | 88 |
| Archive Converter Tool | 90 |
| Archive Recovery Tool  | 91 |
| Communication Tool     | 92 |
| Service monitor        | 86 |
| Text File Manager      | 94 |

# т

| Tex | t File Manager     | 94 |
|-----|--------------------|----|
| W   |                    |    |
| Wiz | ard<br>Backup task | 17 |
|     | Graph              | 21 |
|     | Sample task        | 18 |